Financing of Inclusive Education

Background Information Report



FINANCING OF INCLUSIVE EDUCATION

Background Information Report

European Agency for Special Needs and Inclusive Education



The European Agency for Special Needs and Inclusive Education (the Agency) is an independent and self-governing organisation, supported by Agency member countries and the European Institutions (Commission and Parliament).



This publication has been funded with support from the European Commission. This publication reflects the views only of the author, and the Commission cannot be held responsible for any use which may be made of the information contained therein.

The views expressed by any individual in this document do not necessarily represent the official views of the Agency, its member countries or the Commission. The Commission cannot be held responsible for any use that may be made of the information in this document.

Editor: Antonella Mangiaracina, Agency Staff

The contributions of Tom Parrish and Serge Ebersold are gratefully acknowledged.

Extracts from the document are permitted provided that a clear reference to the source is given. This report should be referenced as follows: European Agency for Special Needs and Inclusive Education, 2016. *Financing of Inclusive Education: Background Information Report*. Odense, Denmark: European Agency for Special Needs and Inclusive Education

With a view to greater accessibility, this report is available in accessible electronic format on the Agency's website: www.european-agency.org

ISBN: 978-87-7110-569-8 (Electronic)

© European Agency for Special Needs and Inclusive Education 2016

Secretariat Østre Stationsvej 33 DK-5000 Odense C Denmark Tel: +45 64 41 00 20 secretariat@european-agency.org Brussels Office Rue Montoyer, 21 BE-1000 Brussels Belgium Tel: +32 2 213 62 80 brussels.office@european-agency.org

www.european-agency.org

CONTENTS

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	. 5
INTRODUCTION	.7
METHODOLOGY	.8
Country literature	. 8
1. THE WIDER POLICY CONTEXT FOR INCLUSIVE EDUCATION	10
1.1 Conceptions of inclusive education	10
1.2 European and international debates on financing of inclusive education	13
1.3 Consequences of the economic crisis for financing of inclusive education?	15
1.3.1 Educational priorities before and after the economic crisis	15
1.4 Lack of quantitative data on the financing and cost of inclusive education	17
1.4.1 Financing inclusive education: the issue of learner outcomes	18
1.5 Chapter summary	19
2. FUNDING MECHANISMS: FEATURES AND CONSEQUENCES FOR INCLUSIVE EDUCATION	21
2.1 The complexity of education's funding mechanisms	21
2.2 Different funding models for effectively implementing inclusive education?	22
2.3 Funding models' features and consequences for implementing inclusive education	24
2.3.1 Input, output and throughput models	
2.4 Flexibility in funding systems for inclusive education	
2.4.1 Flexibility in decentralised funding systems 2.4.2 The need for funding mechanisms to empower teachers to work flexibly 2	
2.5 Chapter summary	30
3. MULTI-LEVEL GOVERNANCE TO SUPPORT EFFECTIVE INCLUSIVE POLICIES	32
3.1 School systems' complexity and the support of governance mechanisms	32
3.2 Effectiveness of financing of inclusive education	34
3.2.1 Accountability and monitoring 3.2.2 Transparency of the funding allocation process	
3.3 Chapter summary	37



4. LINKING RESOURCE ALLOCATION WITH THE UNIVERSAL RIGHT TO	
EDUCATION	.39
4.1 Equity in financing: a way for implementing inclusive education	.39
4.2 Tackling inclusion and equity in education: the challenge for financing	.41
4.3 Chapter summary	.42
5. CONCLUSION	.44
REFERENCES	.46
ADDITIONAL READING	.56

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

Abbreviation	Full version
EACEA:	Education, Audiovisual and Culture Executive Agency
ECOSOC:	United Nations Economic and Social Council
EFA:	Education for All
ET 2020:	European strategic framework for cooperation in education and training
EU:	European Union
IPU:	Inter-Parliamentary Union
OECD:	Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development
OHCHR:	Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights
OREALC:	Regional Organisation of Latin America and Caribbean States
SEN:	Special educational needs
UN:	United Nations
UNESCO:	United Nations Education, Scientific and Cultural Organization
UNICEF:	United Nations Children's Fund

INTRODUCTION

This Background Information Report comprises an information collection activity within the Financing of Inclusive Education project (<u>http://www.european-agency.org/agency-projects/financing</u>). The project will focus on information collection via desk research and country data gathering in order to provide an update on the previous financing study from 1999 (Meijer, 1999).

The Financing of Inclusive Education project directly supports and informs ET 2020 strategic objectives 2 – improving the quality and efficiency of education and training – and 3 – promoting equity, social cohesion and active citizens.

In preparing this report, information from other projects and documents by the European Agency for Special Needs and Inclusive Education (the Agency) was used as a starting point for developing a comprehensive overview of available research and policy information. The goal of this paper is to provide a framework of background information from available literature to support the other project activities. Therefore this document will:

- examine key EU-level policy documents and statements on funding of education;
- consider work from the European Commission, as well as other international organisations, such as OECD, UNESCO and its institutes, UNICEF, etc.;
- take account of research on general and special education financing models, as well as those specific to inclusive education;
- incorporate relevant research literature provided by participating countries.

The analysis of information from project activities will have the following aims:

- to provide a mapping of country approaches to inclusive education linked to particular funding mechanisms;
- to identify critical factors within modes of funding that support access to inclusive education, without discrimination and on the basis of equal opportunity.

This Background Information Report aims to support these analysis activities.



METHODOLOGY

The methodology for this Background Information Report involved searches of internet resources, abstracts and databases, including ERIC and Northampton University Library, and journals sources such as Emerald. General search engines, like Google Scholar, were also used. Searches were also conducted on relevant EU websites (European Commission, EUR-Lex) and international sources and websites (OECD, Save the Children, UN, UNESCO, World Bank, etc.). Online reports as well as conference papers and working documents, where relevant, have also been consulted.

The search involved using the following key words in the various databases: 'financing inclusive education', 'funding inclusive education', 'resourcing inclusive education', 'funds allocation inclusive education'.

Given the overall paucity of quantitative and qualitative data on financing of inclusive education, the complex and varied systems in place in the different countries and the new economic and social challenges facing societies, this Background Information Report considers data related to some important issues that affect the financing of inclusive education. Material has been organised around a framework of thematic propositions – outlined below and that inevitably intertwine and overlap – which provide the main section headings for this document.

The following themes have been used to structure this document:

- The European and international policy context for inclusive education, as well as the impact of the economic crisis on financing and the challenges that the lack of data poses in studying and analysing the field.
- Funding mechanisms and their impact on the implementation of inclusive education.
- Effectiveness of funding, accountability and monitoring issues, as well as transparency in relation to governance mechanisms.
- Equity in financing for the implementation of the right to education and social participation in school settings.

Country literature

In addition to the resources – primarily in the public domain and published in English – accessed through desk research, this review has been supplemented by contributions from Agency member country representatives in the form of English language abstracts of research published in their country's language.

Countries were asked to provide extended abstracts of key research literature on financing in their own languages for consideration within the Background Information Report. Croatia, Iceland, Malta, Sweden and United Kingdom (Scotland) submitted abstracts.

The information collected through this research has been used to develop a conceptual framework for analysing the country information and as the basis for this Background Information Report.



1. THE WIDER POLICY CONTEXT FOR INCLUSIVE EDUCATION

Increased and improved investment in education is one of the core issues of ET 2020, not only because proper investment in education has positive repercussions on economic growth and employment, but also because of its significant impact on social inclusion (European Commission, 2015). Therefore, improved strategies for financing education must ensure better targeted investments to achieve the desired outcomes, leading to a more efficient use of funds. Said efficiency only relates to enhancing advantages that are not solely connected to knowledge acquisition. For decades, it has been widely acknowledged that all children are able to learn and that education has positive consequences for social skills and future income. Furthermore, it is recognised that investing in inclusive education is beneficial for society as a whole because of its returns in social, economic and political aspects (UNESCO, 1972; United Nations, 2006; Council of the European Union, 2007; UNESCO, 2009, 2013a; UNICEF, 2015; World Bank, 2014). Moreover, some findings show that proper implementation of inclusive education has positive outcomes for all learners, not just learners with SEN who experience inclusion and diversity, but also for all learners who can improve soft skills (Mitchell, 2009). Soft skills include collaboration, creativity, problem solving, communication skills and critical thinking. Many researchers argue that, when it comes to preparing learners for their working and social life, these lifelong learning skills are just as important as knowledge acquired in school (Greenberg and Nielsen, 2015).

As the European Commission's *Education and Training Monitor 2015* report highlights:

Effective education is about inclusiveness, ensuring every citizen has an opportunity to develop their talents and to feel part of a shared future. Building effective education and training systems requires a focus on inclusion as part and parcel of the broader quest for excellence, quality and relevance (2015, p. 7).

1.1 Conceptions of inclusive education

The general understanding of 'inclusive education' encompasses a continuous process useful for establishing strategies and policies, but also refers to a service delivered (UNICEF, 2012), aimed at changing and adapting the education system to children with different needs (UNESCO, 2009).

According to Forlin (2006, in Forlin, 2007):

The guiding principle that underpins inclusion is that regular schools should accommodate all pupils regardless of their physical, intellectual, sensory,

emotional or other special needs. Inclusion in an educational context, then, means that every child should be a valued member of the school community and none should be marginalized, alienated, humiliated, teased, rejected or excluded (p. 276).

The concept of inclusive education has evolved, shifting its focus from children with SEN to a broader framework which also incorporates the need to reform school systems through targeted policies in order to enable them to accommodate diversity (Forlin, 2007). Overall, it is known that more inclusive education is required to achieve the goals of democratising education and social inclusion (Drudy and Kinsella, 2009).

As a means of supporting its member countries' aspiration of developing more inclusive education systems, and in line with EU and international priorities, the Agency published the *Agency Position on Inclusive Education Systems* (European Agency, 2015). It presents the essential features of inclusive education systems and recognises the need to take action to make inclusive education a reality for all learners. According to the position paper:

The ultimate vision for inclusive education systems is to ensure that all learners of any age are provided with meaningful, high-quality educational opportunities in their local community, alongside their friends and peers.

For this vision to be enacted, the legislation directing inclusive education systems must be underpinned by the fundamental commitment to ensuring every learner's right to inclusive and equitable educational opportunities.

The policy governing inclusive education systems must provide a clear vision for and conceptualisation of inclusive education as an approach for improving the educational opportunities of all learners. Policy must also clearly outline that the effective implementation of inclusive education systems is the shared responsibility of all educators, leaders and decisionmakers.

The operational principles guiding the implementation of structures and procedures within inclusive education systems must be those of equity, effectiveness, efficiency and raising achievements for all stakeholders [...] through high-quality, accessible educational opportunities (European Agency, 2015, pp. 2–3).

The Agency position paper highlights the necessity to move from a needs-based approach, which associates the problem with the learner, to a rights-based approach. The latter shifts the focus to the challenges posed by schools and educational systems and their ability to respond to all learners' diverse needs in order to give all learners access and participation.



In 2003, Jonsson pointed out some important differences between the two above-mentioned approaches, highlighting that the needs-based approach does not require the existence of a duty-bearer. 'When demands for meeting needs have no "object", nobody has a clear-cut duty to meet needs, and rights are vulnerable to ongoing violation' (Jonsson, 2003, p. 20).

Furthermore, the main goal of the needs-based approach is to obtain additional resources in order to allow a group of people to access services. Meanwhile, the principle of equity is at the centre of the rights-based approach so as to develop a more equitable distribution of resources that can be accessed by everyone (Jonsson, 2003).

In 2006, the OHCHR re-defined a human rights-based approach as:

A conceptual framework for the process of human development that is normatively based on international human rights standards and operationally directed to promoting and protecting human rights. It seeks to analyse inequalities which lie at the heart of development problems and redress discriminatory practices and unjust distributions of power that impede development progress.

Mere charity is not enough from a human rights perspective. Under a human rights-based approach, the plans, policies and processes of development are anchored in a system of rights and corresponding obligations established by international law. This helps to promote the sustainability of development work, empowering people themselves – especially the most marginalized – to participate in policy formulation and hold accountable those who have a duty to act (2006, p. 15).

This definition frames the issue from a holistic point of view, as it considers elements such as *sustainability*, *development* and *empowerment*. Moreover, it refers to *accountability* and *duty*, offering a well-developed framework for education.

In the set of priorities stated in the *Agency Position on Inclusive Education Systems*, there is specific mention of 'sustainable investment, quality and efficiency of education and training systems' (European Agency, 2015, p. 5). Therefore, there is a clear necessity to let inclusive education become a reality for all learners through a cultural shift and concrete actions, starting with resourcing inclusive education.

1.2 European and international debates on financing of inclusive education

European political debate and some studies from international organisations have identified inclusive education as one of the tools to improve quality and equity in education and to ensure more inclusive societies (European Agency, 2015).

The effective implementation of inclusive education is one of the key factors for achieving the goals established by countries and delivering services that have positive outcomes for future societies. In order to implement effective inclusive education and attain the desired results, it is necessary to talk about the financing of inclusive education because the way in which money is allocated and spent has consequences for its implementation. However, despite some studies and the issue's growing presence in European political debates, the question of financing inclusive education struggles to establish itself as a major recurring study topic, as it raises controversial points and can lead to ineffective comparisons among countries and systems.

On the one hand, the debate concerning the favourable implementation of inclusive education must firstly take into account the different countries' financing systems, which are authorised and regulated by specific sets of laws according to the country, and on which the effective implementation of inclusive education depends. In fact, the different means of funding have a direct impact on the strategic behaviour of the actors that play a role in implementing inclusive education, such as teachers, parents and taxpayers (Meijer, 1999). Their role can affect the implementation of inclusive education to a large degree. Paying attention to this issue is therefore pivotal in order to understand outcomes and why and how countries are trying to reform financing systems, adjusting them to consider inclusive policies.

On the other hand, countries' specific ways of funding inclusive education constitute a means of understanding different societal backgrounds, economic traditions and mechanisms and using them to improve and integrate existing models. For this reason – and also taking into account the differences in school traditions, legislative evolution and methods of monitoring and analysis both at European and international level – any sort of comparison has a limited scope (UNESCO/ECOSOC, 2011).

At European level, an early example of constructive debate is the Agency report *Development of a set of indicators – for inclusive education in Europe*, which also focused on the financing of inclusive education (Kyriazopoulou and Weber, 2009). Starting the dialogue among 23 countries that participated in the project, the Agency represents the cutting-edge in the education field for collaborative work aimed at pursuing inclusive education (Smyth et al., 2014).



Recalling the need of the EU and organisations to comply with some points stated in their educational agendas, in the last few decades international organisations (OECD, UN, UNESCO/ECOSOC, UNICEF, World Bank) and the world of academia have also given some interest and attention to the financing of inclusive education.

International organisations (OECD, 2015; Save the Children, 2014; UNICEF, 2014, 2015; World Bank, 2014) dedicated some space to financing in most of their recent research and reports. Moreover, academic works published in the wake of the recent economic crisis (Barrett, 2014; De Boer et al., 2010; Drudy and Kinsella, 2009; Menne and Stein, 2012; Miles and Singal, 2010; Mitchell, 2010; Parrish and Harr, 2011; Huberman, Navo and Parrish, 2011; Smyth et al., 2014; Steer and Smith, 2015) show the necessity to focus on different aspects of financing of inclusive education and their possible consequences or implications.

The debate on financing of inclusive education was raised at international level in 2006, with the launch of the UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities (United Nations, 2006), which impacts upon countries' legislation. At European level, most countries have already ratified the Convention and its Protocol which, with their powerful content and aim, provide for consequences in education and the implementation of inclusive educational practices. Specifically, Article 24 of the Convention enshrines the right of people with disabilities to be educated in inclusive systems. Moreover, it emphasises the necessity to provide financial resources to enable learners to achieve educational and social goals and to make educational institutions accessible.

In line with this trend, some governments both within and outside Europe (U.S. Department of Education, 2010; National Council for Special Education, 2014) undertook studies and proposals in order to understand what more can be done to foster mechanisms for financing inclusive education and to disseminate the philosophical change that this issue involves.

All in all, international literature focuses on different aspects of financing inclusive education. However, an initial examination reveals that there is not yet a systematic means of study, and varying speeds and approaches characterise the different countries, continents and hemispheres. This is mostly because the financing of inclusive education requires not only sufficient, clearly defined sums of money and funding systems suited to different kinds of societies and economies, but also the commitment of policy-makers, awareness of teaching staff, proactive stakeholders, and control mechanisms to ensure the system's utmost transparency.

1.3 Consequences of the economic crisis for financing of inclusive education

Nowadays, it is widely understood that the quantum shifts brought about by economic and social challenges mean that both developed and less developed countries must confront new and demanding tasks (European Commission/EACEA/Eurydice, 2013, 2014). The economic downturn of the last few years prompted some EU member states to cut education expenditure (European Commission/EACEA/Eurydice, 2013, 2014). In a context of economic crisis, countries face the challenge of undertaking reform with reduced budgets. This trend not only affects the educational sector, with its focus on the acquisition of skills and knowledge, but also the development of values and non-formal learning (UNESCO, 2013b). Economic constraints on resourcing education have an impact both on stakeholders' involvement in decision-making and the implementation of inclusive education. This jeopardises learners' rights to education, inclusion and participation.

1.3.1 Educational priorities before and after the economic crisis

As highlighted in the report *Funding of Education in Europe 2000–2012: The Impact of the Economic Crisis*, the financial crisis of 2007–2008 and the consequent reductions in countries' budgets had massive repercussions on public finances all over the EU (European Commission/EACEA/Eurydice, 2013).

Public expenditure cuts and the need to carry out reforms with fewer resources and provide improved outcomes affected the field of education, among others, for at least the five years subsequent to the crisis (European Commission/EACEA/Eurydice, 2013; UNICEF, 2014). However, the economic crisis is not the only reason why countries' governments have been looking at effective investments in education. An examination of the past decade's legislative proposals, goals and programmes shows the EU and international institutions' commitment to the educational field, their interest in establishing long-term strategies and the need to re-think education in light of new goals determined by social – and not just economic – developments.

The Lisbon Strategy, launched in 2000 as a response to specific challenges for the EU, aimed to establish a policy acknowledging the pivotal role of education and training in Europe's future development (European Commission, 2010a).

Also in 2000, in the framework of the Dakar Conference, UNESCO launched the Education for All (EFA) campaign, aimed at providing quality education for all learners (UNESCO, 2000a). This initiative can be taken forward another step, by adding that a quality education should be provided for all learners – together – because it is through confrontation and diversity, which entail challenges, that learning takes place (Peters, 2003).

The Council of the European Union's resolution on education and training as a key driver of the Lisbon Strategy posits the greater repercussion that education and training have in terms of economic outcomes and at personal level and their likelihood to foster social cohesion and personal fulfilment (Council of the European Union, 2007). For those reasons, in the EU political context, the Council and Parliament have also adopted various recommendations and conclusions that demonstrate interest in and commitment to the education field, with a particular focus on teacher education and training for strengthening competencies, as one of the most important tools for future growth and long-term competitiveness for society and individuals (European Commission, 2010b).

Financial support for students grew steadily in the years before the economic crisis, but since 2010 support schemes for pupils and students have been subject to increasing restrictions in educational budgets (European Commission/EACEA/Eurydice, 2013) and investments in education and training have been diminishing in some EU member states (European Commission, 2013).

Therefore, although the economic crisis has not been the departure point for rethinking education at European level, it has indeed reshaped key priorities in education and considerations on future challenges and objectives.

It is generally agreed that spending in the educational field bears fruits at the economic, social and human levels (United Nations, 2006; Council of the European Union, 2007; UNESCO, 2009, 2013b; UNICEF, 2015). Therefore, in a context of financial austerity, priorities for investments and focus in education have been established, with policy actions intended to promote efficiency and with a greater focus on educational funding.

The Council of the European Union's conclusions on a strategic framework for European cooperation in education and training ('ET 2020') emphasise that:

Efficient investment in human capital through education and training systems is an essential component of Europe's strategy to deliver the high levels of sustainable, knowledge-based growth and jobs that lie at the heart of the Lisbon strategy, at the same time as promoting personal fulfilment, social cohesion and active citizenship (2009, p. 1).

At European level, the Europe 2020 strategy recognises that investment in education is a key priority for growth.

The European Commission's Communication, *Rethinking Education: Investing in skills for better socio-economic outcomes*, identified the challenges that Europe had to face after the economic crisis, such as increasing productivity and economic growth and finding a more efficient way 'of deploying available

financial resources which might call for structural reform in particular education systems' (2012, p. 12).

Longer-term investments in education, the modernisation of education systems and the development of performance-based funding models are some of the priorities mentioned in the European Commission's *Annual Growth Survey 2014* (European Commission, 2013). Along the same lines, the *Council Conclusions on investing in education and training – a response to 'Rethinking Education: Investing in skills for better socio-economic outcomes' and the '2013 Annual Growth Survey'* (Council of the European Union, 2013) calls for prioritising and strengthening investments in education and training. However, while European institutions seem committed to including funding for education's empowerment in their rhetoric for reaching specific objectives, the shift from theory into practice often falls short.

Within the European context, the reason for the gap in the educational field may be found in the countries' responsibility for implementing measures. This is because, according to the treaties, education is a non-legally binding field for countries within the EU. Therefore, while European institutions can present a set of common goals in education, the means and timescales for carrying them out depend on each member state. This means there are varying speeds in how reforms are implemented and priorities are established.

1.4 Lack of quantitative data on the financing and cost of inclusive education

A recent study by the European Commission/EACEA/Eurydice (2014), entitled Financing Schools in Europe: Mechanisms, Methods and Criteria in Public Funding, focuses on how exactly countries allocate funds to schools and the levels from which money is transferred to the different supports related to inclusive education. However, although such data and information are of course needed to fully understand different school systems in light of their underlying rules and the strategic behaviour that they foster, what becomes apparent is the lack of data strictly related to the sums spent. The study does not focus on economic investments in inclusive education, but rather on mechanisms that allow money to flow in different directions. Therefore, the lack of quantitative and qualitative data raises questions about the cost of inclusive education compared to special education and about how effective implementation and policies can be monitored. There is a need for a satisfactory overview of the financing of inclusive education. Education can be effective and equitable without knowledge of the actual sums spent. However, obtaining this information, together with measures of outcomes, would help in understanding the degree to which this is true.

Despite the fact that the overall costs of inclusive education are difficult to ascertain, there is a general understanding that inclusive education systems cost less to implement and maintain than special education models (Centre for Studies on Inclusive Education, 1997; UNESCO, 2009; Mitchell, 2010; World Health Organization and World Bank, 2011, in UNICEF, 2015; Barrett, 2014). Moreover, UN, OHCHR and IPU (2007) state that inclusive models of education are less expensive than segregated ones.

There has not been any examination of the cost implications of inclusive education since the *Salamanca Statement* (UNESCO, 1994), although it has been acknowledged that 'Inclusive Education is not only cost-efficient, but also cost-effective' (Skrtic, 1991 and OECD, 1999, in Peters, 2003, p. 5). Thus its implementation should be of general interest.

According to Mitchell (2010), successful implementation of an inclusive education system is based on adequate levels of resources, not exceeding the amount of money that would be allocated to special schools. It is recognised that, in order to deliver and support appropriate educational programmes, a satisfactory level of funding is needed. UN, OHCHR and IPU argue that:

Inclusion is often (mis)conceived as prohibitively expensive, impractical, unsustainable or a strictly disability-specific issue. However, not all positive measures are costly. [...] States should use available resources, focus on achieving clear goals, and ensure sustainability of education funding in the short, medium and long term. Cutting funding to an inclusive education system has dramatic adverse effects not only for individuals, but also for the policy of inclusion, in general (2007, p. 84).

Nevertheless, it is also acknowledged that the policies underlying educational financing mechanisms 'may be as important in affecting programme provision as the amount allocated' (Fletcher-Campbell et al., 2003, pp. 222–223). Thus, it is clear that if an adequate level of funding is important for inclusive education's implementation, the ways funds are allocated also have significant consequences for said implementation (UNICEF, 2012).

The amount of money allocated to fund inclusive education is not more important than the mechanisms it can trigger. The money allocated to empowering stakeholders and to quality learning must be adequate, but does not have to be greater than the amount allocated to special needs education.

1.4.1 Financing inclusive education: the issue of learner outcomes

Throughout recent decades, one of the main debates surrounding the financing of inclusive education has been its economic feasibility in relation to learner

outcomes, meaning the cost-benefit relationship between inputs and results, and between inclusive and segregated settings (Reschovsky and Imazeki, 1998; Grissmer et al., 1997; UNESCO, 2009; Mitchell, 2010; OECD, 2015; Steer and Smith, 2015).

With regard to this issue, because the data comes from different countries it cannot be perfectly comparable, so it is important to use caution when interpreting it. This also applies to other topics in this report.

The 'money doesn't matter' hypothesis cited by Grissmer et al. has been subverted by the evidence that financial support for learners from disadvantaged and minority backgrounds leads to higher achievement, while supplemental funds directed at those from more privileged backgrounds do not have the same outcome (Grissmer et al., 1997).

The latest approaches taken by UNESCO, UNICEF and the World Bank focus on learning outcomes, rather than inputs given to schools:

For too many students, however, more schooling has not resulted in more knowledge and skills. The results of substantial resources spent on education have thus been disappointing in terms of learning outcomes (World Bank, 2011, p. 37).

Moreover, a very recent report from UNICEF (2015), *The Investment Case for Education and Equity*, shows some data on elements that impact upon students' learning achievements from the Programme for the Analysis of Education Systems in Conference of the Ministers of Education of French-speaking countries. The study on investments for education and equity (which focused not only on access, but also on learning) points out the weak connection between resources per se and learning outcomes.

Therefore, some of the main challenges in funding inclusive education lie in the ability to transform resource allocation into learning outcomes and to try to identify the most cost-effective interventions to improve learning according to different learners' needs in inclusive systems (OECD, 2015; Steer and Smith, 2015). More specifically, 'quality learning' could be identified as the main aim for all learners and, in certain cases, it could be put into practice by re-thinking resource allocation (Barrett, 2014; World Bank, 2011).

1.5 Chapter summary

The topic of financing education systems has recently been recognised as a priority at EU and international level, based on the assumption that education for all is a human right and learning in inclusive education systems has positive consequences for all learners.



Despite international organisations and political institutions' stated commitment to the issue, financing of inclusive education struggles to establish itself as a recurring topic for myriad reasons. The complexity of modes of funding – which differ from country to country – and the different outcomes that these produce lead countries to fear comparisons in the field of education. Moreover, the economic crisis prompted spending cuts in many fields of the public sphere, including education. Therefore, countries are obliged to achieve results with less money. Furthermore, the lack of recent information on the public funding of education, especially in Europe, and up-to-date sources make it:

[...] difficult to assess and discuss the current changes in public investment in the education sector, to pinpoint the factors explaining these changes and to analyse recent reforms undertaken by countries in their budgetary framework (European Commission/EACEA/Eurydice, 2015, p. 5).

Finally, effectiveness in the field of education is an important key. The question is not only about money spent, but also how it is spent and reaching the predetermined goals.

2. FUNDING MECHANISMS: FEATURES AND CONSEQUENCES FOR INCLUSIVE EDUCATION

2.1 The complexity of education's funding mechanisms

Financing of inclusive education entails cross-ministerial action, multi-level financial responsibilities and inter-institutional funding. Therefore, the context of overall allocation and receipt of money is complex and unique for each country.

For inclusive education polices to be implemented, they need to be supported by specific resource allocation systems. In most countries, additional resources allocated to inclusive education can be assigned to learners for personal factors related to impairments, or can support schools by taking contextual requirements into account. Funding can therefore be directed towards different targets, like individual learners with special needs, mainstream schools and special schools. In many countries, the ministry of health and welfare is responsible for supporting individual learners with SEN, while funding for mainstream schools is under the aegis of the ministry of education (Meijer, 1999; OECD, 1999).

In addition to funding provided by the health-care and social protection systems, inclusive education requires supplementary funding that enables education systems to provide equal opportunities for learners formally identified as having SEN and their non-disabled peers (UNICEF, 2012). Most countries dedicate additional financial means to allow education systems to meet at-risk learners' needs and empower learners to cope with the education system's demands (Meijer, 1999; Network of Experts in Social Sciences of Education and Training, 2012). Thus, successful and effective implementation of inclusive education requires additional resources, over and above those from health-care funds or social funds, as in some European countries.

Leaving aside the recent economic challenges facing countries, for decades economic concerns about resourcing education in general (UNESCO, 1972; Reschovsky and Imazeki, 1998), and special and inclusive education specifically (Grissmer et al., 1997; Taylor, 1997; Meijer, 1999; OECD, 1999; UNESCO, 2009; UNESCO/International Bureau of Education, 2009; Huberman, Navo and Parrish, 2011), have played a pivotal role in ascertaining possible paths to take or programmes to follow (Mitchell, 2010). This is because it is widely recognised that funding mechanisms impact upon the implementation of inclusive education, given that these mechanisms and their implications for expenditure can either foster or hinder inclusive education.

Moreover, the objective underlying the use of funding mechanisms has consequences that can trigger stakeholders' influence or increase the complexity of the education system itself. Therefore, when considering the financing of



inclusive education, some factors have to be taken into consideration: the bureaucratic process involving authorities and internal sets of laws in countries, the allocation and control systems, the formal procedures and the ability of different stakeholders to influence processes and outcomes. This is important because the institutional, legislative, administrative and social systems across countries are not uniform. This cross-cutting theme sometimes calls for simplification because the question is not only where the money comes from, but also what the money is for and how it passes from the sources to the underlying objective(s).

What seems pivotal for Drudy and Kinsella (2009) is that inclusive schools can only develop in inclusive education settings. According to the authors, inclusion strictly relates to the identification of diversity in modern societies and:

[...] it has come to mean that schools should concern themselves with increasing the participation and broad educational achievements of all groups of learners who have historically been marginalised (Kearney and Kane, 2006, in Drudy and Kinsella, 2009, p. 648).

Nowadays, it is possible to identify different education methods used in European countries in relation to learners with SEN (European Agency, 2014). From segregated systems, to special classes in mainstream schools, to inclusive settings, all these practices entail different provisions and allocation mechanisms for resources. It is therefore important to analyse and understand different models and systems, because they result, to varying extents, in the effective implementation of inclusive education or, conversely, in ineffective outcomes. In certain cases, if the current organisation of resources turns out to be ineffective, resource reorganisation and redistribution are necessary to achieve a more inclusive education system.

2.2 Different funding models for effectively implementing inclusive education

General standards for resourcing education can be identified, starting with centralised and decentralised ways of funding. These are theoretical models, which have declined in reality through a mix of approaches in both European and U.S. states (National Council for Special Education, 2014; Fletcher-Campbell et al., 2003). However, an overview of models and levels of funding and how they intertwine can be useful to understand the different scenarios and outcomes they produce in relation to inclusive education (Fletcher-Campbell et al., 2003).

The European Commission/EACEA/Eurydice report of 2014 tackles the matter, providing a complete overview of the funding process and the roles of public authorities in the financial procedure in Europe. The study does not aim to evaluate funding levels or assess the amount of money that the public authorities

in each country allocate to the different educational aims; rather it shows, through diagrams, how funds are allocated to schools. The report does not tackle the issue of financing of inclusive education.

However, the aspects considered in the report link to some pivotal issues for reflecting on the financing of inclusive education. The issue of decentralising funding systems in education highlights the importance of flexibility in financing and the consequences of those mechanisms, such as identifying the different stakeholders involved in the process and related governance issues.

The report's first consideration is the different levels of public authorities that assign money to schools. Three levels have been indicated: the central level (or top level of national administration) which refers to ministries, but in the case of highly decentralised countries is identified as regional level; intermediate level, involving regional and local authorities, as well as school boards which are responsible for school funding, and the administrative division of central level authorities; and school level (European Commission/EACEA/Eurydice, 2014).

According to what the money is allocated for (teaching staff, non-teaching staff, operational and capital goods), different levels of authorities may be involved in the process (European Commission/EACEA/Eurydice, 2014). However, this classification does not imply a strict hierarchical position of responsibility in the money allocation process. The labelling of 'top' level as opposed to 'intermediate' level is not a value of judgement, but a verification of the nature of the different bodies involved in the money transfer.

System centralisation and decentralisation relates to the issue of flexibility and effectiveness of funding systems, because it is recognised that a given funding system presents certain features and mechanisms which are in line with implementing inclusive education.

This assumption does not only concern EU countries. A UNICEF study published in 2012, *The Right of Children with Disabilities to Education: A Rights-Based Approach to Inclusive Education*, states that in Central and Eastern Europe and the Commonwealth of Independent States, the decentralisation of education financing systems is underway, but will take a while to be extended to all states. Nonetheless, effective system operation can only be achieved through decentralisation of both political authorities and finances (UNICEF, 2012, p. 39) because the reality shows that intermediate levels of funding are more likely to take into account economic, cultural and historical traditions. Studies largely ascribe better degrees of inclusion to decentralised funding models rather than centralised ones (Meijer, 1999), due to local authorities' greater levels of autonomy and flexibility. Decentralisation is also linked to how flexible the

support for schools and learners is, and how flexible resource allocations are, which in some countries are linked to agencies.

These are some factors to be considered when trying to construct an inclusive education system. Moreover, regional decision-making can foster co-operation and responsibility (Hegarty, 1995; UNESCO, 1994) in the fund allocation and spending process. Porter (1997) shows how the Scandinavian countries' decentralised model promotes inclusion, resulting in fewer learners in segregated provision. However, the decentralised system is not the sole best model, because a certain degree of checks and balances from central level is needed in order to prevent fraud and mismanagement (UNESCO, 2007; UNICEF, 2012; Levacic and Downes, 2004). The evolution of education systems leads to more decentralised systems that ensure greater freedom in targeted choice from local and school authorities, but at the same time inevitably increases the education system's complexity (Burns, 2015a).

It is clear that modes of funding affect the inclusiveness of education systems, stakeholders' strategic behaviour and the flexibility of education systems.

2.3 Funding models' features and consequences for implementing inclusive education

The European Commission/EACEA/Eurydice report (2014) distinguishes between two main models and three diverse methods of funding. The funding formulae are defined as 'funding methods using defined criteria and applying a universally agreed rule to these criteria to set the amount of resources to which each school is entitled' (p. 99) and they are often linked to fixed amounts of money.

Funding formulae are also defined as:

[...] an agreed rule for allocating resources to operational units such as schools that is universally applied to all schools for a given type within an education jurisdiction (Ross and Levacic, 1999, in Levacic and Downes, 2004, p. 20).

This means that formulae define how resources have to be allocated to provide learners with equal opportunities.

The report also analyses criteria set by authorities to designate money directly to schools through grants for specific resources, lump sums and block grants.

The study concludes with national diagrams showing which level of public authority participates in money allocation to schools.

In 1999, a review of international approaches to special needs education (Meijer, 1999) described different categories of indicators for funding education: input,

output and throughput (please refer also to Fletcher-Campbell et al., 2003; Mitchell, 2010; UNICEF, 2012; National Council for Special Education, 2014).

2.3.1 Input, output and throughput models

Input funding (also known as demand-driven funding, per-capita models or categorical funding) is the most frequently used funding formula for children with official statements of SEN (UNICEF, 2012). According to this model, the number of learners with SEN is identified and fund allocation comes from ministry level. The funds are based on the number of children identified as having SEN and are allocated to regions or municipalities. This may be through using a per-pupil formula as a flat grant (the states provide every district with a fixed amount of money per pupil regardless of localities' capacities; localities can also add funding to this amount), a census-based count of total learner population rather than eligibility for special education (Waller, 2012), or a 'weighted student formula'. The latter method for allocating resources to schools is not to be confused with 'school-based management', although both models support decentralisation (Petko, 2005). However, with a weighted student formula, the money follows the learners to whichever school they attend, creating an equitable system of resource allocation and distribution (ibid.). Per-capita amounts may provide sums of money for specific categories, such as minority languages, social disadvantage and disabilities. This feature can therefore give a clear picture of money allocated and spent at the centralised level. However, this system presents some disadvantages: it focuses on disabilities instead of educational needs, hinders inclusion, can lead to inflated costs because of the necessity to identify needs and learners who can access funds, and creates the risk of over-identification of learners with SEN (Meijer, 1999; Parrish, 2000), as the allocation of funds depends on the demand.

In countries using input funding, mainstream schools with high rates of learners with SEN receive money according to the number of such learners. According to this model, a bonus is given for learners identified as having SEN or for ones who do not achieve a minimum threshold in test scores (Meijer, 1999). This model's drawback, both for mainstream and special schools, is that it does not promote quality in the services provided and can also bring about over-labelling situations where children are recognised as having SEN. Thus, it leads to inefficient strategic behaviour and misuse of rules to the detriment of inclusive education and the children who should benefit from it.

Another funding model, the output model, uses the criteria of funding directly linked to learner performance, low referral of learners with SEN or low rates of difficult behaviour among learners. Both mainstream and special schools are

funded based on learner achievement, with financial penalties for schools when the expected outcome is not reached or fixed parameters are not fulfilled. Penalisation also takes place when the reasons for failure are mobility factors or learner absenteeism; therefore they are not strictly related to schools' responsibilities (Peters, 2002). Although this model promotes learner achievement, it has also negative aspects (Meijer, Soriano and Watkins, 2003). For instance, it is liable to trigger high competition among school populations that can result in penalisation for learners with SEN, to make the system test-oriented (O'Hanlon, 1993), or to reward schools regardless of their real efforts or involvement in negative trends. Moreover, in the case of special schools, funds may be assigned proportionally to the number of learners with SEN sent to mainstream schools. This can result in a skewed strategic behaviour, by which schools with low numbers of learners with SEN receive more funding than schools with greater numbers of such learners.

The throughput model does not refer to children with an official statement SEN of (also called the resource-based model or supply-driven funding) and is focused on services provided rather than on child counts. This system usually identifies and establishes the number of learners considered eligible for additional funding (Mitchell, 2010) and the allocation and use of financial resources shifts from the central level to the regional or local one. These fiscal policies are intended to support specific programmes aimed at learners with SEN.

According to this method, mainstream schools receive money aimed at supporting specific SEN provisions, but in this case differences in SEN incidence are disregarded (Meijer, 1999). Nevertheless, in most cases, the level of funds turns out to be too low to allow for school-based provision. Also, schools may be unable to create an inclusive learning environment for learners and instead tend to segregate them, as the funds are not proportional or are strictly related to outcomes (Hegarty, 1995).

Throughput models applied to special schools lead to different outcomes. As special schools are financed to provide specific services, they can operate as resource centres, as happens in some countries (Meijer, 1999). Critics of this model point out the risk of adapting learners to programmes rather than vice versa (Pijl and Dyson, 1998; UNICEF, 2012). Furthermore, special schools in areas with a high rate of learners with SEN will receive more funds, fostering a flawed incentive. Areas where an inclusive system is widespread do not receive that same level of funding and, as a result, mainstream schools delivering good practice in the framework of the throughput model could end up being penalised by the system itself (Meijer, 1999).

However, the model does boast a positive feature, presenting itself as an alternative to the input funding in segregated systems. This model decentralises funds, fostering local initiative (Meijer, 1999; UNICEF, 2012) and greater accountability, for example through the easier identification of responsible key persons in the system and speedier communication. The throughput model takes into account local social history and evolution and both cultural and economic regional developments, permitting the development of a better-tailored system. However, countries with a more centralised policy struggle to implement this model.

Overall, given the diversity and the complexity of funding models, it is clear that funding mechanisms cannot be understood or judged out of the context in which they are applied (Levacic and Downes, 2004; OECD, 2015). Moreover, there is no perfect model, as each one has advantages and disadvantages (Meijer, 1999; UNICEF, 2012; National Council for Special Education, 2014). A combination of models would be desirable to allow effective inclusive education to be implemented. However, it has also been recognised that models fostering a more decentralised funding system can lead to better outcomes in terms of monitoring and effectiveness. Decentralised systems allow for better monitoring and consideration of local idiosyncrasies.

Despite the call for school effectiveness reforms, this does not always correspond to the implementation of inclusive education systems. Some features emphasising schools' effectiveness may hinder inclusive education, as Peters highlights:

[...] evidence suggests that schools may reject students who do not measure up on standardized test scores, or who are 'difficult' to teach. The narrow emphasis on performance outcomes as measured by standardized test scores often disadvantages students when consideration for accommodations such as alternative formats and primary language differences are not given (2003, p. 70).

2.4 Flexibility in funding systems for inclusive education

Flexibility is connected to many issues, such as school autonomy and teacher empowerment through training and incentives.

Inclusive education needs flexible support, flexible teaching and improved teacher preparation; therefore its implementation is strongly related to funding mechanisms' ability to support it. The flexibility of inclusive education is underpinned by funding criteria used to allocate resources and support the systems' ability to be responsive to learners' and schools' needs. Needs-based funding mechanisms tend, for example, to be less inclusive than funding

mechanisms focusing on outputs (Meijer, 1999). Flexibility also depends on existing allocation criteria and processes underpinning funding mechanisms. In some countries, for example, central/top-level ministries transfer resources directly to schools, while in others top-level ministries and regional or local authorities are jointly responsible for transferring funds (European Commission/EACEA/Eurydice, 2014).

2.4.1 Flexibility in decentralised funding systems

Flexibility is strongly related to decentralised financing systems. More decentralised systems appear to create greater opportunities for developing innovative forms of inclusive education, for promoting community-based approaches that encourage families' involvement, for providing flexible learning and support opportunities, and for strengthening school governance (Bottoms and Presson, 2000; Stubs, 2008; Network of Experts in Social Sciences of Education and Training, 2012).

While decentralised inclusive education systems support flexibility, they also face effectiveness, equity and accountability issues when provision is badly coordinated, when provision is unsustainable or when inclusive strategic behaviours are hindered (Meijer, 1999). The decentralisation of education systems results in a greater degree of independence in choices and the capacity to adapt to local needs. However, it also triggers multi-level governance that increases education system complexity (Burns, 2015a).

Flexibility in funding, policies and classroom practices, allowing teachers to have full support from the whole school system, is the key to effective inclusive education (Pijl and Frissen, 2009, in Barrett, 2014). Therefore, high-quality inclusive education is closely related to teacher education opportunities. In many countries, head teachers attribute schools' difficulties in providing quality instruction to the shortage of teachers with competences in teaching learners with diverse needs (European Agency, 2011; OECD, 2013). Moreover, high-quality inclusive education also depends on support provided to schools. Many countries have developed support services aimed at technically and methodologically empowering school stakeholders (European Agency, 2012, 2014). Schools should embrace the implementation of inclusive education as a free choice. An optimum outcome largely depends on stakeholders who promote and deliver inclusive practices within schools. As Forlin remarks:

[...] while inclusion tends to be internationally promoted as the panacea of education for all children, it is not necessarily supported by all professionals or parents and it is important to ensure that due consideration is given to all viewpoints (2006, in Forlin, 2007, p. 277).

As highlighted by Shaddock et al.:

[...] the stark reality is that [...] the big effects on student learning are attributable to individual teacher differences. Thus 'some minimum level of resourcing is necessary, and after that, the key consideration in regard to finances and educational outcomes is how well the finances are spent' (2009, in Mitchell, 2010, p. 80).

Therefore teachers' ability, schools' flexibility and parents' commitment and willingness to meet educational needs and to foster inclusive practices are more important than the money invested.

2.4.2 The need for funding mechanisms to empower teachers to work flexibly

Based on these findings, the financial investments to set up an inclusive education system should take investments for teachers into consideration. Teachers should be able to update their knowledge, use new technology, experiment with new methodologies, offer flexible ways of teaching and be willing to find new solutions and alternative paths to achieve better learning in a quality inclusive setting. Teachers' competencies, together with their commitment to the inclusive education process and their willingness to move forward, create a fertile environment for developing inclusive education (UNESCO, 2009; UNICEF, 2012). Some kinds of expenditure have greater impact on learner outcomes than others and support provided to schools is one feature of high-quality inclusive education, through stakeholders' empowerment at technical and methodological level (European Agency, 2012, 2014).

However, different international surveys conducted by OECD on teaching and learning (Teaching and Learning International Survey) show that, despite their initial and in-service teacher education (OECD, 2013), teachers do not feel sufficiently prepared to cope with SEN in their day-to-day work. National surveys (ibid.) also demonstrate that the main challenge does not come from large class sizes as such, but rather from the different types of learners with SEN or behavioural issues.

According to Barrett, learner outcomes are closely related to teachers' skills and capacities, so high-quality teaching is the key to learner achievement, especially for those who have SEN. For this reason, resource allocation to 'support recruitment, retention, and development of strong teachers and leaders is critical to the development of an effective inclusive system' (2014, p. 81).

Teachers' pivotal role in inclusive education practice is also underlined in a study conducted in four districts in California where learners with SEN performed at higher than statistically predicted levels (Huberman, Navo and Parrish, 2011). The

findings highlight that successful inclusion is due to different factors identified in 11 practices, such as teachers practising in an inclusive environment and teamwork between class and special education teachers. While, for example, the higher per-student expenditure and attractive salaries for special teachers have moderate consequences (Hattie, 2009; UNICEF, 2015), teachers' commitment to inclusive education is one of the key factors for its implementation.

In *A Blueprint for Reform*, the U.S. Government tackled the revision of the Elementary and Secondary Education Act (U.S. Department of Education, 2010). The document raises some important points for reaching the goal of world-class education and inclusion in classrooms. Among others, a specific chapter is dedicated to teachers' treatment, support and development opportunities through flexible mechanisms of choice for best achievements. In fact, the U.S. Department of Education recognises teachers' commitment and work. However, as new challenges in education for all learners have arisen in the school system, new tools and support must be provided to teachers in the U.S. As Arne Duncan, U.S. Secretary of Education, said during the presentation of the 'Teach to Lead' programme (http://www.ed.gov/teaching): 'Teacher leadership means having a voice in the policies and decisions that affect your students, your daily work, and the shape of your profession' (U.S. Department of Education, undated). Teacher empowerment and flexible ways of working are some of the main ways to implement inclusive education.

2.5 Chapter summary

Financing of inclusive education is embedded in a complex framework of financial responsibilities and inter-institutional funding, with the result that each country is a unique case.

However, when reflecting on the financing of inclusive education, it is helpful to study funding methods and mechanisms because it is recognised that these affect the implementation of inclusive education by hindering or fostering some strategic behaviours or producing certain educational results.

In the overview on funding levels, decentralised funding systems present some features and mechanisms that are aligned with the implementation of inclusive education. However, totally decentralised systems are not the solution for implementing inclusive education because a certain degree of checks and balances from the central level is needed to prevent flawed mechanisms. The same concept applies to the different funding models (input, output and throughput), which produce different strategic behaviours, but cannot be understood or judged outside of the context in which they are implemented. All in all, there is no perfect model as each one has its pros and cons. Therefore, a



flexible combination of models – which take into account different variables, such as awareness, commitment and traditions – would be desirable to allow effective inclusive education to be implemented.

When analysing different funding levels and mechanisms, the most important issue is the degree of flexibility that they grant to schools' and teachers' ways of working, because those levels enable the implementation of inclusive education.

3. MULTI-LEVEL GOVERNANCE TO SUPPORT EFFECTIVE INCLUSIVE POLICIES

The various crises (social, economic, environmental) that repeatedly affect societies highlight governments' and international organisations' weaknesses and, from time to time, their inability to face those problems or even to find independent or co-ordinated solutions. Furthermore, the emergence of new societal challenges makes it necessary to develop new strategies to predict change, or at least to build a flexible system that can respond effectively to change. Moreover, in every aspect under development, including education, coherent and multilateral governance is needed to contribute to inclusion (UNESCO, 2013b). Successful reform of the financing of inclusive education entails processes and players that have changed over recent decades, due to new trends, economic scenarios and social developments (Burns, 2015b).

3.1 School systems' complexity and the support of governance mechanisms

What makes the current education system complex is the combination of different factors, among them the growing power of parents, who exercise their control on school systems and who increasingly demand that schools meet their children's needs.

Although there have been great improvements in fund allocation in education during most of the past decade, the trend has declined in recent years. Moreover, they have been unbalanced and disproportionate from country to country, even in countries with similar income levels (Steer and Smith, 2015). This is because effective implementation of inclusive education does not depend solely on countries' economic development or possibilities of dedicating a high amount of resources to inclusive education. The capacity to implement inclusive education depends on the ability of governance mechanisms to permit effective collaboration among stakeholders and to foster strategic behaviours, as well as monitoring and accountability issues. Moreover, the effectiveness of funding mechanisms is interrelated with governance approaches and how means, processes and resources all come together in a country's policy-making (Meijer, 1999).

According to Fazekas and Burns, 'Governance refers to the process of governing societies in a situation where no single actor can claim absolute dominance' (2012, p. 7). A more general definition points out that the governance system defines not only policies, but also the process involved in implementation. Thus it entails the co-ordination of many actors, structures and balances (Business Dictionary, undated).

Beyond the formal structures and institutions in place in a system, governance also relates to the interactions among the different players (OECD, 2015). Appropriate governance allows for effective collaboration between the different sectors involved in learners' education and is designed to promote effective services for learners. Weaknesses in this area may, for example, hinder synergies among stakeholders involved in the education process and be detrimental to the quality of the support provided and the continuity and coherence of educational pathways (European Agency, 2006; UNICEF, 2012). A more inclusive, open, accessible governance system can ensure optimum outcomes in terms of targeted policies for the implementation of inclusive education, but it can also determine 'the likelihood of conflict among knowledge forms and stakeholders' (Fazekas and Burns, 2012, p. 26).

In many countries, decentralisation and its consequences have not simply entailed devolution of power to regional, local or school levels. According to Burns:

Lump sum funding, strengthening of stakeholders, horizontal accountability, and holding local authorities and schools accountable through performance indicators have changed the nature of the relationship between the central, regional and local levels, moving away from a hierarchical relationship to a division of labour and more mutual independence and self-regulation (2015a, p. 3).

In any case, questions arise regarding the consequences of power asymmetries among countries in the achievement of education results, the degree of involvement of different stakeholders in education and their power to influence decisions and financial management in schools (UNESCO, 2013b).

Governance also refers to measures ensuring effective planning intended to develop appropriate and sustainable provision. The mechanisms and dynamics through which policy is defined, priorities are determined and inclusive education systems are piloted play a key role in implementing effective inclusive education.

While appropriate support requires sufficient flexibility to meet learners' needs, it also demands sustainable provision. Short-term funding hinders sustainable changes in practices and policies, in contrast to sustainable funding mechanisms that support long-term changes in schools' policies and practices (OECD, 2012).

Governance mechanisms impact upon – but are also affected by – the strategic behaviour of stakeholders in the decision-making process. The issue links to the funding theme because this has consequences for the effectiveness of funding mechanisms. Some funding mechanisms tend to align the interests of schools and parents with incentives to maximise resources allocated to individual learners,



irrespective of the limited resources available (Crawford, Sibieta and Vignoles, 2011). Other funding mechanisms may be an incentive for labelling learners as having SEN, to the advantage of schools, but to the detriment of more flexible teaching and support practices (Meijer, 1999) and to the detriment of learners who are mislabelled.

As already highlighted by Meijer, Pijl and Waslander (1999), there is an 'actor approach' that can explain the behaviour of some individuals or groups involved in the implementation of the inclusive education process though incentives or disincentives that they receive from the funding system. 'Strategic behaviours can never be totally eliminated, but they can be minimized' (Peters, 2003, p. 51).

3.2 Effectiveness of financing of inclusive education

Consideration of the system and methods of financing inclusive education requires reflection on the governance tools that can lead to specific ways of acting among different stakeholders.

Due to the economic crisis, policy-makers now have to face a review of financial resources and expenditures in education. However, efficiency and effectiveness demand a clearer allocation of funds and expenditure in every sphere of public life, not just education (European Commission/EACEA/Eurydice, 2013; OECD, 2015). Countries have to proceed with reforms, generally with less money to allocate. In the field of education, this impacts upon schools and learners with SEN. For this reason, it is more important than ever that money reaches its allocated destination and produces the intended effect.

Effective financing of inclusive education is not an end in itself: the effectiveness of funds enhances educational and social outcomes through inclusive education. Moreover, it leads to the implementation of equity in education and the right to education and it requires specific tools. As stated, the mechanisms and dynamics through which policy is defined, priorities are determined and inclusive education systems are piloted play a key role in implementing effective inclusive education. However, prior to the public expenditure cuts caused by the crisis, it had been observed that greater attention was paid to reforms towards inclusive education and the way these were executed than to the actual result of the intervention (Meijer, 1999). In fact, in Agency member countries there was no obligation to report goals achieved with special budgets. In the past, it was more important to take action and to have legislation that, in theory, allowed the country to proceed towards implementing inclusive education through funding, without looking at the expected outcome. Trends are changing and now there is greater recognition of the importance of results. A call for effective resource allocation is needed (Meijer, 1999; Mitchell, 2010; Menne and Stein, 2012; UNICEF, 2012; OECD,
2015). This means that countries must not merely have instruments that theoretically allow them to follow the path towards financing inclusive education;

The interest – but also the responsibility – of financing systems for inclusive education concerns policy-makers as well as parents, teachers and taxpayers in general (Meijer, 1999).

countries must prepare plans and the expectations must match the reality.

3.2.1 Accountability and monitoring

Monitoring and accountability mechanisms ensure effective planning and management of resources and staff, intended to develop appropriate and sustainable provisions. Their efficacy depends in part on the method of funding to which they are related. At international level, the policy matter of accountability is increasingly important to assess the effectiveness of money's use with regard to what is produced (OECD, 1999). What seems to be more and more significant in the inclusive education financing system is that:

Processes for allocating funds to promote the right to inclusive education for children with disabilities need to be transparent and accountable in order to ensure that they are used for the purpose for which they were assigned (UNICEF, 2012, p. 43).

Accountability, together with monitoring procedures and mechanisms, is essential to guarantee high-quality inclusive education systems (European Agency, 2012). Such mechanisms allow for decentralised policies, ensuring that resources effectively reach the intended learners with SEN and that they are well spent, leading to the desired results. Such mechanisms also facilitate external control of resource levels and performance standards that permit the analysis of cost-effectiveness (OECD, 2010). However, considering an issue like accountability without any background or contextual information has some drawbacks. For example, in a system evaluated for outputs linked to learner results or teacher performance, it could lead to an interpolation of outcomes, particularly if they are expressly linked to a financial reward or penalty (Linn, 2000). Moreover, accountability should not aim to foster uneven competition among schools, but to enhance co-operation and collective action (Fullan, 2010).

This trend is encouraged through different tools, such as, for example, reviews of school improvements (Barrett, 2014), which are different to school results. In fact, the latter could damage inclusive education practices if based solely on learner outcomes, or even create unfair completion among schools (OECD, 1999). Moreover, Barrett emphasises that:



It is important that schools, schools systems, and governments develop and utilize accountability processes that promote the goals they seek to attain as these processes can be powerful drivers that influence the allocation of time, energy, fiscal, and professional resources (2014, p. 85).

In 2004, UNESCO launched Education for All. Thanks to this initiative, all partners commit to providing access to education to all learners through 'ensuring that EFA monitoring processes include data and documentation of resources allocated to persons with disabilities' (UNESCO, 2004a, p. 20). This was also clearly stated in the U.S. Government's *No Child Left Behind Act* of 2001, which:

[...] ensures accountability and flexibility as well as increased federal support for education. No Child Left Behind continues the legacy of the Brown v. Board decision by creating an education system that is more inclusive, responsive, and fair (U.S. Department of Education, 2004, p. 13).

Moreover:

Before the passage of No Child Left Behind, the 1997 reauthorization of the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA) required that students with disabilities be included in state and district-wide assessment programs. No Child Left Behind builds on this requirement by ensuring that these assessments measure how well students with disabilities have learned required material in reading and mathematics. Students with the most significant cognitive disabilities can have results from specially designed alternate assessments used in accountability decisions instead (ibid., p. 21).

Thus, centralised and local level monitoring is desirable in order to verify how expenditures are spent. The double check on spending from the authority levels, together with an assessment carried out by learners and parents, and clear figures on how money is allocated, are useful both for evaluating governments' ability to bridge the gap between wishes and real achievements in inclusive education, and for combatting corruption (UNICEF, 2012).

3.2.2 Transparency of the funding allocation process

It is clearly in the interests of education service users (learners and parents), governance bodies and citizens to assess the system's improvements and results (Meijer, 1999). Therefore, monitoring how money is spent at both central and local level should involve a high degree of transparency in education financing.

Transparency, which is an important means of verifying expenditures and their effectiveness, relates to the extent to which:

Stakeholders (schools principals, schools councils, parents, pupils and the local community) can understand the basis on which money is allocated to

their individual establishment and how it is used. This reveals, perhaps not surprisingly, that there is a massive need for training at all levels in the education system. Schools leaders, traditionally trained through the route of academic progression and pedagogic practice, now find themselves intimately engaged in financial procedures for which they may not have the experience necessary or possibly the temperament (Levacic and Downes, 2004, p. 16).

Therefore, transparency should go together with civic and public awareness, commitment and understanding regarding sums of money and the allocation process (UNESCO, 2007; UNICEF, 2012). Using audits to monitor systems may become liable to fraud or corruption and there are discrepancies in the capacity to ascertain possible flaws in the system, according to countries. However, as well as transparency, public understanding and involvement depend more on cultural and political factors than on mere knowledge about funding methods for education and sums spent (Levacic and Downes, 2004).

Moreover, despite the growing possibility to access information regarding school budgets and school managers' increasing capacity to understand how the allocation system works, in some cases the technical complexity of fund allocation constitutes a hurdle, and neither teachers nor parents have sufficient engagement and knowledge to understand how the funding system works (Levacic and Downes, 2004).

Taking into account those findings, it is not possible to have internal (principals, teachers) and external (parents, taxpayers) evaluation mechanisms on money allocation and spending if the directly affected parties are unaware of how the system works.

Overall, there is no general agreement among researchers regarding the undoubted value of transparency and accountability. Their value is recognised when it comes to understanding how funds are allocated and spent. However, they need to be supported by a detailed framework that provides a general overview of the history of the school or the school system and the context in which funding takes place. Transparency and accountability do not call for out-ofcontext comparison. Lastly, they must be considered a means for detecting money misuse, for implementing improvements (Linn, 2003) and for preventing corruption (Levacic and Downes, 2004).

3.3 Chapter summary

In current societies, different institutional levels participate and co-operate in order to reach predetermined goals. Therefore, in the education field, the implementation of inclusive education relies on the ability of governance



mechanisms to create effective collaboration among stakeholders. As in multilevel governance mechanisms, no single actor has absolute dominance; the ability to implement effective inclusive education depends on those actors' coordination capacity.

Discussion of governance mechanisms requires a reflection on the tools that facilitate effective implementation of inclusive education.

Effective financing of inclusive education is not an end in itself: the effectiveness of funds leads to the implementation of equity in education and the right to education and it requires specific tools. Accountability, together with monitoring procedures and mechanisms, are essential tools to foster high-quality, effective inclusive education systems.

However, it is clearly in the interests of education service users (learners and parents), governance bodies and citizens to assess the system's quality. Therefore, monitoring how money is spent both at central and local level should involve a high degree of transparency in education financing.

Transparency, which is an important means of verifying expenditures, should go together with civic and public awareness, commitment and understanding regarding sums of money and the allocation process. However, those tools do not guarantee the effective implementation of inclusive education through funding. Effective inclusive polices require a widespread awareness of learners' rights, an understanding of funding and allocation mechanisms and a multi-level, balanced system of checks. Finally, they also need components relating to how effectiveness in implementation will be measured and monitored.

4. LINKING RESOURCE ALLOCATION WITH THE UNIVERSAL RIGHT TO EDUCATION

Resourcing inclusive education should be a top priority for all countries, as education is largely recognised as a fundamental tool for self-development and improved economic performance, as well as a fundamental human right (United Nations, 2006; World Bank, 2013). However, despite the well-known preconditions, the potential of inclusive education and widespread commitments (UNICEF, 2012), there are still barriers that deprive children of the right to education in an inclusive environment (UNICEF, 2015).

4.1 Equity in financing: a way for implementing inclusive education

Adequate and effective allocation of funding for inclusive education results in high-quality settings in which learners can both be present in a classroom and have the chance to participate in educational activities.

According to Peters, it is recognised that learners with SEN can achieve the same or better results as their peers, provided that pertinent tools, policies and reforms:

[...] focus on a unified system that provides an environment in which all students have an equal opportunity to reach their maximum potential. The distinction between equal opportunity and equal treatment is central to inclusive education policy. Inclusive education does not mean that everyone should be treated equally (one-size-fits-all), but that individualized supports (treatment according to need) aim toward equal success that is measured broadly (Peters, 2003, p. 70).

Allocating funds to procure educational and social resources is not an end in itself. High-quality inclusive education systems should allow the system to be equitable and non-discriminatory for learners with SEN and those from disadvantaged backgrounds. Furthermore, an inclusive rights-based approach must embrace the idea that schools have to adjust to children's needs and be flexible in order to accommodate learners with varying needs (UNESCO, 2009). The distinction between the two is important, as it highlights the shift in perspective from the mere presence of children with SEN in classrooms, to the attention paid to the effective outcomes, knowledge acquisition and beneficial consequences (World Bank, 2013). The distribution of economic resources determines the distribution of opportunities. Therefore, equity in the financing of inclusive education entails finding a balanced way to distribute the available resources in order to allow every child to learn (Barrett, 2014), and not just to access and participate in education.

It is acknowledged that physical and intellectual disabilities can hinder children's enrolment in the mainstream school system due to many circumstances, ranging from parents' resistance, to shortcomings in the school system itself. Nevertheless, children with SEN attending mainstream classes also suffer from exclusion and inequality in terms of access to education (World Health Organization and World Bank, 2011, in UNICEF, 2015). This is because a mainstream school is not in itself a guarantee of inclusion; learners with SEN can attend schools and school systems without actually being included (Peters, 2003; UNICEF, 2012). Presence in the classroom does not necessarily mean participation and inclusion. Therefore, policies and practices for the financing of inclusive education should not only focus on accessibility (meaning physical access to buildings), but also on social and academic participation, which requires appropriate school programmes and the economic opportunity for every child to have access to education together with their peers (Peters, 2003). Getting children into schools is no longer the main objective of strategies and policies. The next challenge seems to be identifying funding mechanisms aimed at enabling learners with SEN to access the core curriculum and provide them with the same opportunities as their peers in terms of access, success, transition and affiliation opportunities (UNESCO, 2000b).

According to Li (2010), adequacy and equity are two of the issues that characterise educational funding. The former is strictly related to the system's capacity to provide enough funding to achieve pre-set outcomes. In order to proceed, the strategies established by governments, the policies to make them effective and, above all, the goals must be known.

Article 24 of the Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities (United Nations, 2006) emphasises that people with disabilities have the right to education without discrimination and on the basis of equal opportunities. It recognises the right of learners with disabilities to education, ensuring an inclusive education system at all levels and the facilitation of access to lifelong learning. As defined within the Mapping the Implementation of Policy for Inclusive Education project (European Agency, 2011), funding mechanisms should allow for:

- *equity in access* for learners with SEN and their comprehensive participation in education in inclusive settings;
- equity in distribution of learning opportunities and appropriate support for learners with SEN according to their educational needs;

- *equity in achieving opportunities* and possibilities for success in academic and social learning and in the transition opportunities that are open to learners with SEN;
- *equity in reaching personal autonomy* during and after formal education and, in particular, the affiliation opportunities open to learners with SEN that support their inclusion in wider society.

4.2 Tackling inclusion and equity in education: the challenge for financing

Sometimes, obstacles to participation in education are not only due to financial factors, but relate to school accessibility. The context in which school systems develop impacts upon school participation. In some developing countries, child labour or child marriage impedes such involvement, while in developed countries migrant children or those from disadvantaged backgrounds may have difficulties participating and being involved in school activities (UNICEF, 2015). Inequality in accessing school systems hinders participation and, as a consequence, inclusion. It is a reality, even in economically developed countries. Sometimes it occurs because supports do not focus on learners' involvement. Therefore, resourcing options should aim for the goals of inclusion and equity, starting from the broad country context.

The acceptance of the concept of inclusion in society and in school systems and, consequently, in the way financing mechanisms operate, takes time as it involves a societal change of perspective and priorities (UNESCO, 2009). The report prepared by the UNESCO Secretariat within the Meeting of the Senior Experts' Group, entitled *Rethinking Education in a Changing World*, states that:

Equity in education may be understood as the social distribution of the opportunities for effective and relevant learning. The concept of the right to education has to do with the right of quality education for all (UNESCO, 2013b, p. 12).

From the point of view of financing education, Li (2010) identifies 'horizontal equity' and 'vertical equity'. The former relates to the opportunity to be included in a school system that all learners should be afforded, regardless of their economic background and family support. The latter refers to the transversal support that learners should receive according to their needs and in order to reach educational goals: 'vertical equity [...] means that students with diverse learning needs are treated variably such that they are able to achieve equal educational outcomes' (Baker and Green, 2008, in Li, 2010, p. 219).

In order to develop inclusive models of support for learners, some literature (Mitchell, 2010; National Council for Special Education, 2014) proposes identifying



criteria that foster inclusion through: funding for early identification, while avoiding incentives and disincentives; inclusive curricula which focus on learners' cognitive skills development rather than knowledge acquirement (UNESCO, 2004b, 2009; UNICEF, 2012); targeting resources and specific budgets (UNICEF, 2015); and assistive technology (UNICEF, 2013). Moreover, since 2000 and the related *Dakar Framework for Action* (UNESCO, 2000a), there has been some financial progress towards inclusion. All in all:

Because treating all students with similar needs the same is much easier than looking at students with diverse needs, measuring how diverse their needs are, and deciding how much assistance is needed to help disadvantaged students to achieve the required learning outcomes, efforts to establish a method of vertical equity for students are more difficult than those needed for horizontal equity (Garner, 2004, in Li, 2010, p. 219).

The inclusion of learners in schools, classrooms, lessons and day-to-day activities through financing involves many sectors, which intertwine, overlap and sometimes conflict. Funding is a means of making inclusive education a reality.

4.3 Chapter summary

Education is recognised as a fundamental tool for self-development and Article 24 of the Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities emphasises that people with disabilities have the right to education without discrimination and on the basis of equal opportunities. Therefore, financing inclusive education should be a top priority for all countries. Despite those preconditions, there are still obstacles that deprive children of the right to education in inclusive environments.

An inclusive, rights-based approach must adopt the idea that schools have to adjust to children's needs and be flexible in order to accommodate learners with various needs (SEN, disadvantaged backgrounds, migrants). Distinguishing between 'equal opportunity' and 'equal treatment' is pivotal in inclusive education policy because every child needs individualised support according to their needs.

Moreover, as the distribution of economic resources determines the distribution of opportunities, equity in financing inclusive education entails finding a balanced way to distribute the available resources to allow every child to learn, and not just to access and participate in education. The acceptance of the concept of inclusion in society and in school systems requires time, as it involves a societal change of perspective and priorities, as well as the adjustment of targeted financing mechanisms. The inclusion of learners in schools, classrooms, lessons and day-to-day activities through financing involves many sectors that intertwine, overlap and occasionally conflict, but equity in financing is one of the means of realising it.



5. CONCLUSION

Financing of inclusive education is a topic which is progressively trying to impose itself in a broad European and international political debate. Although the topic has gained prominence because inclusive education is considered a human right and there is a common interest in discussing how resources should be used, it is difficult to obtain data because of the complexity and uniqueness of countries' financing systems.

Since the Lisbon Strategy and Dakar Framework in 2000, there have been steps forward in the field of inclusive education. As well as a change of perspective on how education should be, the path to operative inclusive education requires a set of reforms and financial investments. It is generally understood that the way in which public investment in education is addressed is even more important in terms of outcomes and effectiveness than the amount spent (OECD, 2015). However, some figures and data on how money is spent are essential in order to understand the path to be taken to change or improve different systems.

The scarcity of information on financing of inclusive education draws attention to some related topics. These include the inefficiency of funding mechanisms in fostering and supporting the implementation of inclusive education or in incentivising good policies and behaviours, and the lack of adequate and flexible governance, with all its consequences, such as insufficient accountability, monitoring and transparency.

Decentralised financing methods can only be an option if the entire funding system has checks and balances. It is acknowledged that it can only help to implement inclusive education if it is centrally monitored and if all actors are prepared and aware.

The issue at stake concerns future generations' empowerment, capacity for selfdetermination and ability to collaborate. Children educated in inclusive settings are likely to become adults who will take action in shaping their own futures.

As stated in the Declaration on Promoting citizenship and the common values of freedom, tolerance and non-discrimination through education:

The primary purpose of education is not only to develop knowledge, skills, competences and attitudes and to embed fundamental values, but also to help young people – in close cooperation with parents and families – to become active, responsible, open-minded members of society (European Union Education Ministers, 2015, p. 1).

Children from every society represent the future of that society itself. Therefore, talking about the levels and modes of funding, the money spent, the right to

education and its consequences for the effectiveness and quality of education means talking about how policy-makers are willing and able to shape future societies.

These challenges have the potential to be transformed into opportunities. Therefore, the issue of strengthening the financing of inclusive education does not only concern money in the strict sense, but also the ability to look beyond the economic investment and see instead its greatest outcome. An effective inclusive education system passes through cultural mechanisms as well as financial ones, so it is important to analyse every facet already considered by studies and research and to ask why other issues have been set aside. One of the main challenges is to understand the extent to which policies can impact upon practice, and then if and how they have a real impact on the financing of inclusive education and its expected outcomes. This must also be considered in light of recent economic and social changes. All in all, the question relates to the degree of influence and the effective outcome of those policies (UNESCO, 2013b).

In order to trigger a change towards more effective resourcing of inclusive education, it would be useful to have data on financial allocation and expenditure to reflect on how schools, systems and countries themselves can change their systems, the path that has been followed and how efficient and sustainable it has turned out to be. Suspected negative findings on the financing of inclusive education, or the perceived struggle for systems to put theory into practice, with society and governments striving for inclusion in education but yielding few results, and powerful stakeholders who use their influence, do not serve as conclusive evidence. It is difficult to establish whether efforts have been sufficient or if the trend can be changed. However, all of these issues show how much can still be done and the abundance of room for improvement.



REFERENCES

Barrett, D., 2014. 'Resourcing Inclusive Education', in C. Forlin and T. Loreman (eds.) *Measuring Inclusive Education (International Perspectives on Inclusive Education, Volume 3)*. Emerald Group Publishing Limited.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1108/S1479-36362014000003020 (Last accessed April 2015)

Bottoms, G. and Presson, A., 2000. *Using Lessons Learned: Improving the Academic Achievement of Vocational Students.* Educational Benchmarks 2000 Series. Atlanta, GA: Southern Regional Education Board

Burns, T., 2015a. *Governing Complex Education Systems*. *Project Plan*. OECD. <u>http://www.oecd.org/edu/ceri/GCES%20Project%20Plan%202015.pdf</u> (Last accessed December 2015)

Burns, T., 2015b. *Governing Complex Education Systems. Framework for Case Studies*. OECD. <u>http://www.oecd.org/edu/ceri/GCES-Case-Study-Framework-2015.pdf</u> (Last accessed November 2015)

Business Dictionary, undated. Definition of 'governance', available from: <u>http://www.businessdictionary.com/definition/governance.html#ixzz3hpzJUXoY</u> (Last accessed December 2015)

Centre for Studies on Inclusive Education, 1997. *Inclusive Education – A Framework For Change: National and International Perspectives*. Bristol: Centre for Studies on Inclusive Education. <u>http://disability-</u> <u>studies.leeds.ac.uk/files/library/CSIE-inclusive-ed.pdf</u> (Last accessed November 2015)

Council of the European Union, 2007. *Council Resolution of 15 November 2007 on education and training as a key driver of the Lisbon Strategy*. (2007/C 300/01). Brussels: Council of the European Union. <u>http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?qid=1454416917483&uri=CELEX:32007G1212(01)</u> (Last accessed May 2015)

Council of the European Union, 2009. *Council conclusions of 12 May 2009 on a strategic framework for European cooperation in education and training ('ET 2020').* 2009/C 119/02. Brussels: Council of the European Union. <u>http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-</u>

<u>content/EN/TXT/?qid=1454417068170&uri=CELEX:52009XG0528(01)</u> (Last accessed May 2015)

Council of the European Union, 2013. *Council Conclusions on investing in education and training – a response to 'Rethinking Education: Investing in skills for better socio-economic outcomes' and the '2013 Annual Growth Survey'*. 2013/C

64/06. Brussels: Council of the European Union. <u>http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?qid=1454417228823&uri=CELEX:52013XG0305(01)</u> (Last accessed December 2015)

Crawford, C., Sibieta, L. and Vignoles, A., 2011. *Special Educational Needs Funding Systems: Role of Incentives.* Short Policy Report No. 11/04. Bristol: Centre for Understanding Behaviour Change

De Boer, A., Pijl, S.J. and Minnaert, A., 2010. 'Attitudes of parents towards inclusive education: a review of the literature' *European Journal of Special Needs Education*, 25 (2), 165–181

Drudy, S. and Kinsella, W., 2009. 'Developing an inclusive system in a rapidly changing European society' *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, 13 (6), 647–663

European Agency for Development in Special Needs Education, 2011. *Mapping the Implementation of Policy for Inclusive Education: An Exploration of the Challenges and Opportunities for Developing Indicators.* Odense, Denmark: European Agency for Development in Special Needs Education

European Agency for Development in Special Needs Education, 2012. *Raising Achievement for All Learners – Quality in Inclusive Education.* Odense, Denmark: European Agency for Development in Special Needs Education

European Agency for Special Needs and Inclusive Education, 2014. *Organisation of Provision to Support Inclusive Education – Summary Report*. Odense, Denmark: European Agency for Special Needs and Inclusive Education.

http://www.european-agency.org/sites/default/files/Organisation of Provision Summary Report.pdf (Last accessed April 2015)

European Agency for Special Needs and Inclusive Education, 2015. *Agency Position on Inclusive Education Systems*. Odense, Denmark: European Agency for Special Needs and Inclusive Education

European Commission, 2010a. *Commission Staff Working Document. Lisbon Strategy evaluation document.* Brussels: European Commission. <u>http://ec.europa.eu/archives/growthandjobs_2009/pdf/lisbon_strategy_evaluation_en.pdf</u> (Last accessed May 2015)

European Commission, 2010b. *Teachers' Professional Development: Europe in international comparison: An analysis of teachers' professional development based on the OECD's Teaching and Learning International Survey (TALIS).* Luxembourg: Office for Official Publications of the European Union

European Commission, 2012. COMMUNICATION FROM THE COMMISSION TO THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT, THE COUNCIL, THE EUROPEAN ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL



COMMITTEE AND THE COMMITTEE OF THE REGIONS. Rethinking Education: Investing in skills for better socio-economic outcomes. /* COM/2012/0669 final */. Strasbourg: European Commission. <u>http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-</u> content/EN/TXT/?uri=COM:2012:0669:FIN (Last accessed November 2015)

European Commission, 2013. *Communication from the Commission. Annual Growth Survey 2014*. {SWD(800) final}. Brussels: European Commission. <u>http://ec.europa.eu/europe2020/pdf/2014/ags2014_en.pdf</u> (Last accessed April 2015)

European Commission, 2015. *Education and Training Monitor 2015*. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union

European Commission/EACEA/Eurydice, 2013. *Funding of Education in Europe 2000–2012: The Impact of the Economic Crisis. Eurydice Report*. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union.

http://eacea.ec.europa.eu/education/eurydice/documents/thematic_reports/14 7EN.pdf (Last accessed April 2015)

European Commission/EACEA/Eurydice, 2014. *Financing Schools in Europe: Mechanisms, Methods and Criteria in Public Funding. Eurydice Report.* Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union.

http://eacea.ec.europa.eu/education/eurydice/documents/thematic_reports/17 <u>OEN.pdf</u> (Last accessed March 2015)

European Commission/EACEA/Eurydice, 2015. *National Sheets on Education Budgets in Europe 2015.* Eurydice Facts and Figures. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union.

https://webgate.ec.europa.eu/fpfis/mwikis/eurydice/images/8/8f/194EN.pdf (Last accessed November 2015)

European Union Education Ministers, 2015. *Declaration on Promoting citizenship and the common values of freedom, tolerance and non-discrimination through education*. Paris, 17 March 2015.

http://ec.europa.eu/education/news/2015/documents/citizenship-educationdeclaration_en.pdf (Last accessed December 2015)

Fazekas, M. and T. Burns, 2012. 'Exploring the Complex Interaction Between Governance and Knowledge in Education' *OECD Education Working Papers*, No. 67. Paris: OECD Publishing. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/5k9flcx2l340-en</u> (Last accessed December 2015)

Fletcher-Campbell, F., Pijl, S.J., Meijer, C., Dyson, A. and Parrish, T., 2003. 'Distribution of funds for special needs education' *International Journal of Educational Management*, 17 (5), 220–233 Forlin, C., 2007. 'A Collaborative, Collegial and More Cohesive Approach to Supporting Educational Reform for Inclusion in Hong Kong' *Asia Pacific Education Review*, Vol. 8, No. 2, 276–287

Fullan, M., 2010. All Systems Go: The Change Imperative for Whole System Reform. Thousand Oaks, California: Corwin

Greenberg, A.D. and Nielsen A.H., 2015. *The Role of Education in Building Soft Skills. Putting into Perspectives the Priorities and Opportunities for Teaching Collaboration and Other Soft Skills in Education.* Duxbury, Massachusetts: Wainhouse Research

Grissmer, D., Flanagan, A. and Williamson, S., 1998. 'Does Money Matter for Minority and Disadvantaged Students? Assessing the New Empirical Evidence', in W. J. Fowler, Jr. (ed.) *Developments in School Finance, 1997*. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Department of Education. National Center for Education Statistics

Hattie, J. A. C., 2009. *Visible learning: A synthesis of over 800 meta-analyses relating to achievement*. London: Routledge

Hegarty, S., 1995. 'Teacher training', in OECD, *Integrating Students with Special Needs into Mainstream Schools*. Paris: OECD

Huberman, M., Navo, M. and Parrish, T., 2011. *Lessons from California Districts Showing Unusually Strong Academic Performances for Students in Special Education.* Palo Alto, CA: American Institutes for Research

Jonsson, U., 2003. *Human Rights Approach to Development Programming.* Nairobi: UNICEF

Kyriazopoulou, M. and Weber, H. (eds.), 2009. *Development of a set of indicators* – *for inclusive education in Europe*. Odense, Denmark: European Agency for Development in Special Needs Education

Levacic, R. and Downes, P., 2004. *Formula funding of schools, decentralization and corruption: a comparative analysis*. Paris: International Institute for Educational Planning

Li, X., 2010. 'How Unequal Are Their Vertical Equity Measures? A Comparison of Three Canadian Provinces' *The Alberta Journal of Educational Research*, 56 (2), 218–230

Linn, R.L., 2000. 'Assessment and accountability' *Educational Researcher*, 29 (2), 4–16

Linn, R.L., 2003. 'Accountability: Responsibility and reasonable expectations' *Educational Researcher*, 32 (7), 3–13



Meijer, C. J. W. (ed.), 1999. *Financing of Special Needs Education. A seventeencountry Study of the Relationship between Financing of Special Needs Education and Inclusion*. Middelfart, Denmark: European Agency for Development in Special Needs Education

Meijer, C. J. W., Pijl, S. J. and Waslander, S., 1999. 'Special education funding and integration: Cases from Europe', in T.B. Parrish, J.G. Chambers and C.M. Guarino (eds.) *Funding Special Education: Nineteenth Annual Yearbook of the American Education Finance Association*. Thousand Oaks, California: Corwin

Meijer, C., Soriano, V. and Watkins, A., 2003. 'Special Needs Education in Europe: Inclusive Policies and Practices', in C. Meijer, V. Soriano and A. Watkins (eds.) *Special Needs Education in Europe. Thematic Publication*. Odense, Denmark: European Agency for Development in Special Needs Education

Menne, S. and Stein, A., 2012. *Effective Investments in Education – Background Paper*. Global Economic Symposium 2012. <u>http://www.global-economic-symposium.org/knowledgebase/the-global-economy/effective-investments-in-education/background-paper/effective-investments-in-education</u> (Last accessed September 2015)

Miles, S. and Singal, N., 2010. 'The Education for All and Inclusive Education Debate: Conflict, Contradiction or Opportunity?' *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, 14 (1), 1–15

Mitchell, D., 2009. *Education for respect and understanding – inclusion and equity*. Commonwealth Education Partnerships 2009. Malaysia. <u>http://www.cedol.org/wp-content/uploads/2012/02/55-57-20091.pdf</u> (Last accessed June 2015)

Mitchell, D., 2010. Education that fits: Review of international trends in the education of students with special educational needs. Final Report. Christchurch, New Zealand: University of Canterbury

National Council for Special Education, 2014. *Delivery for Students with Special Educational Needs. A better and more equitable way. A proposed new model for allocating teaching resources for students with special education needs.* An NCSE Working Group Report. Trim: National Council for Special Education. http://ncse.ie/wp-

<u>content/uploads/2014/09/Allocating_resources_1_5_14_Web_accessible_versio</u> <u>n_FINAL.pdf</u> (Last accessed May 2015)

Network of Experts in Social Sciences of Education and Training, 2012. *Mind the gap. Education inequality across EU regions*. Brussels: European Commission

O'Hanlon, C., 1993. 'The importance of an Articulated Personal Theory of Professional Development', in J. Elliott (ed.), *Reconstructing Teacher Education*. London: Falmer Press

OECD, 1999. Inclusive Education at Work: Students with Disabilities in Mainstream Schools. Paris: OECD Publishing. <u>http://www.oecd-</u> <u>ilibrary.org/education/inclusive-education-at-work_9789264180383-en</u> (Last accessed May 2015)

OECD, 2013. TALIS 2013 Technical Report. Paris: OECD

OECD, 2015. *Education Policy Outlook 2015: Making Reforms Happen*. Paris: OECD Publishing. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/9789264225442-en</u> (Last accessed May 2015)

Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights, 2006. Frequently Asked Questions on a Human Rights-Based Approach to Development Cooperation. New York and Geneva: United Nations.

http://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Publications/FAQen.pdf (Last accessed February 2015)

Parrish, T. B., 2000. 'Restructuring special education funding in New York to promote the objective of high learning standards for all students' *Economics of Education Review*, 19, 431–445

Parrish, T. B. and Harr, J., 2011. 'Fiscal policy and funding for special education', in J. M. Kauffman and D. P. Hallahan (eds.) *Handbook of Special Education*. New York: Routledge

Peters, S., 2002. 'Inclusive education in accelerated and professional development schools: a case-based study of two school reform efforts in the USA' *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, 6 (4), 287–308

Peters, S., 2003. *Inclusive Education: achieving education for all by including those with disabilities and special education needs*. Washington, D.C.: World Bank. <u>http://www-</u>

wds.worldbank.org/external/default/WDSContentServer/WDSP/IB/2003/09/08/0 00160016_20030908131732/Rendered/PDF/266900WP0English0Inclusive0Educa tion.pdf (Last accessed July 2015)

Petko, M., 2005. Weighted Student Formula (WSF). What Is It and How Does It Impact Educational Programs in Large Urban Districts? Washington, D.C.: NEA Research

Pijl, S. J. and Dyson, A., 1998. 'Pupil-bound budgets in special education: a threecountry study' *Comparative Education*, 34 (3), 261–279



Porter, A. C., 1997. 'Comparative experiments in educational research', in R. Jaeger (ed.) *Complementary Methods for Research in Education* (2nd edition). Washington, D.C.: American Educational Research Association

Reschovsky, A. and Imazeki, J., 1998. 'The Development of School Finance Formulas to Guarantee the Provision of Adequate Education to Low-Income Students', in W. J. Fowler, Jr. (ed.) *Developments in School Finance, 1997*. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Department of Education. National Center for Education Statistics

Save the Children, 2014. *Save the Children Stands for Inclusive Education*. <u>http://www.savethechildren.net/sites/default/files/libraries/Standing%20for%20I</u> <u>nclusive%20Education%20Position%20Paper_0.pdf</u> (Last accessed May 2015)

Skrtic, T., 1991. *Behind Special Education: A Critical Analysis of Professional Culture and School Organization*. Denver: Love Publishing Company

Smyth, F., Shevlin, M., Buchner, T., Biewer, G., Flynn, P., Latimier, C., Šiška, J., Toboso-Martín, M., Rodríguez Díaz, S. and Ferreira, M. A. V., 2014. 'Inclusive education in progress: policy evolution in four European countries' *European Journal of Special Needs Education*, 29 (4), 433–445.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/08856257.2014.922797 (Last accessed May 2015)

Steer, L. and Smith, K., 2015. *Financing Education: Opportunities for Global Action*. Center for Universal Education at Brookings. Washington, D.C.: Brookings Institution.

http://www.brookings.edu/~/media/Research/Files/Reports/2015/07/financingfor-education-steer-smith/FinancingForEducation2015.pdf?la=en (Last accessed September 2015)

Stubs, S., 2008. *Inclusive Education*. *Where there are few resources*. Oslo: The Atlas Alliance.

http://www.eenet.org.uk/resources/docs/IE%20few%20resources%202008.pdf (Last accessed June 2015)

Taylor, C., 1997. 'Does Money Matter? An Empirical Study Introducing Resource Costs and Student Needs to Educational Production Function Analysis', in W. J. Fowler, Jr. (ed.) *Developments in School Finance, 1997*. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Department of Education. National Center for Education Statistics

UNESCO, 1972. *Learning to be. The world of education today and tomorrow*. Paris: UNESCO. <u>http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0000/000018/001801e.pdf</u> (Last accessed May 2015)

UNESCO, 1994. The Salamanca Statement and Framework for Action on Special Needs Education. Paris: UNESCO.

http://www.unesco.org/education/pdf/SALAMA_E.PDF (Last accessed April 2015)

UNESCO, 2000a. *The Dakar Framework for Action*. Paris: UNESCO. <u>http://www.unesco.at/bildung/basisdokumente/dakar_aktionsplan.pdf</u> (Last accessed April 2015)

UNESCO, 2000b. *World Education Forum, Dakar. Final Report*. Paris: UNESCO. <u>http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0012/001211/121117e.pdf</u> (Last accessed July 2015)

UNESCO, 2004a. EFA Flagship Initiatives. Multi-partner collaborative mechanism in support of EFA goals. Paris: UNESCO.

http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0013/001356/135639e.pdf (Last accessed April 2015)

UNESCO, 2004b. Education for All: The Quality Imperative. EFA Global Monitoring Report 2005. Paris: UNESCO Publishing.

http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0013/001373/137333e.pdf (Last accessed June 2015)

UNESCO, 2007. *Education for All by 2015. Will we make it?* Paris: UNESCO. <u>http://www.unesco.org/education/gmr2008/press/Full-report.pdf</u> (Last accessed April 2015)

UNESCO, 2009. *Policy Guidelines on Inclusion in Education*. Paris: UNESCO. <u>http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0017/001778/177849e.pdf</u> (Last accessed April 2015)

UNESCO, 2013a. Occasional Papers. Revisiting Learning: The Treasure Within. Assessing the influence of the 1996 Delors Report. UNESCO Publishing. <u>http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0022/002200/220050E.pdf</u> (Last accessed May 2015)

UNESCO, 2013b. *Rethinking Education in a Changing World. Meeting of the Senior Expert's Group.* Paris: UNESCO.

http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0022/002247/224743e.pdf (Last accessed May 2015)

UNESCO/ECOSOC, 2011. General Education Quality Diagnostic. Analysis and Monitoring Framework. Draft report n. 5. Buenos Aires: UNESCO

UNESCO/International Bureau of Education, 2009. *Inclusive Education: The Way of the Future. Final Report*. International Conference on Education, 48th session. Paris: UNESCO.



UNICEF, 2012. *The Right of Children with Disabilities to Education: A Rights-Based Approach to Inclusive Education*. Geneva: UNICEF Regional Office for Central and Eastern Europe and the Commonwealth of Independent States (CEECIS). <u>http://www.unicef.org/ceecis/UNICEF_Right_Children_Disabilities_En_Web.pdf</u> (Last accessed April 2015)

UNICEF, 2013. *The State of the World's Children 2013: Children with Disabilities.* New York: UNICEF.

http://www.unicef.org/sowc2013/files/SWCR2013_ENG_Lo_res_24_Apr_2013.pd f (Last accessed May 2015)

UNICEF, 2014. *Children of the Recession: The impact of the economic crisis on child well-being in rich countries.* Innocenti Report Card 12. Florence, Italy: UNICEF. <u>http://www.unicef-irc.org/publications/pdf/rc12-eng-web.pdf</u> (Last accessed March 2015)

UNICEF, 2015. *The Investment Case for Education and Equity*. New York: UNICEF. <u>http://www.unicef.org/publications/files/Investment_Case_for_Education_and_E</u> <u>quity_FINAL.pdf</u> (Last accessed April 2015)

United Nations, 2006. *Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities*. New York: United Nations

United Nations, Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights and Inter-Parliamentary Union, 2007. *From Exclusion to Equality: Realising the Rights of Persons with Disabilities. Handbook for Parliamentarians*. Geneva: United Nations. <u>http://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Publications/training14en.pdf</u> (Last accessed December 2015)

U.S. Department of Education, 2004. *A Guide to Education and No Child Left Behind*. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Department of Education. <u>http://www2.ed.gov/nclb/overview/intro/guide/guide.pdf</u> (Last accessed June 2015)

U.S. Department of Education, 2010. *A Blueprint for Reform. The Reauthorization of the Elementary and Secondary Education Act*. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Department of Education.

http://www2.ed.gov/policy/elsec/leg/blueprint/blueprint.pdf (Last accessed June 2015)

U.S. Department of Education, undated. *Teach to Lead.* <u>http://www.ed.gov/teaching</u> (Last accessed June 2015)

U.S. Government, 2001. *No Child Left Behind Act of 2001*. Education Intergovernmental relations. <u>http://www2.ed.gov/policy/elsec/leg/esea02/107-110.pdf</u> (Last accessed June 2015)

Waller, J., 2012. *Study of a New Method of Funding for Public Schools in Nevada*. San Mateo, California: American Institutes for Research

World Bank, 2011. *Learning for All. Investing in People's Knowledge and Skills to Promote Development.* World Bank Group Education Strategy 2020. Washington, D.C.: World Bank

World Bank, 2013. *The What, Why, and How of the Systems Approach for Better Education Results (SABER)*. (Conference Edition). <u>http://www-</u>wds.worldbank.org/external/default/WDSContentServer/WDSP/IB/2013/08/02/0 00333037_20130802154912/Rendered/PDF/799010WP0SABER0Box0379795B00 PUBLIC0.pdf (Last accessed July 2015)

World Bank, 2014. SABER in Action: An Overview. Strengthening education systems to achieve learning for all.

http://wbgfiles.worldbank.org/documents/hdn/ed/saber/supporting_doc/in_actions/SABER_in_Action_Overview.pdf (Last accessed July 2015)



ADDITIONAL READING

Ainscow, M., Booth, T. and Dyson, A., 2004. 'Understanding and developing inclusive practices in schools: a collaborative action research network' *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, 8 (2), 125–139

Alcantud, F., 2004. 'La inclusión de estudiantes con discapacidad en los estudios superiores: una reflexión después de diez años' [The Inclusion of Students with Disabilities in Higher Education: A Reflection After Ten Years], in G. Echeita and M.A. Verdugo (eds.) *La 'Declaración de Salamanca' sobre Necesidades Educativas Especiales diez años después: valoración y prospectiva* [The Salamanca Statement on Special Educational Needs Ten Years On: Assessment and Prospects]. Salamanca: INICO

Antia, S.D., Stinson, M.S. and Gaustad, M.G., 2002. 'Developing membership in the education of deaf and hard-of-hearing students in inclusive settings' *Journal of Deaf Studies and Deaf Education*, 7, 214–229

Artiles, A. J. and Larsen, L. A., 1998. 'Learning from Special Education Reform Movements in Four Continents' *European Journal of Special Needs Education*, 13 (1), 5–9

Audit Scotland and HMIE, 2003. *Moving to mainstream. The inclusion of pupils with special educational needs in mainstream schools*. Edinburgh: Auditor General Accounts Commission. <u>http://www.audit-</u>

<u>scotland.gov.uk/docs/local/2003/nr_030529_special_educational_needs.pdf</u> (Last accessed May 2015)

Council of Europe, 2006. Action Plan to Promote the Rights and Full Participation of People with Disabilities in Society: Improving the Quality of Life of People with Disabilities in Europe 2006–2015. Brussels: Council of Europe

Council of the European Union, 2000. *Lisbon Agreement*. Brussels: Council of the European Union. <u>http://www.europarl.europa.eu/summits/lis1_en.htm</u> (Last accessed June 2015)

Council of the European Union, 2010. *Council conclusions of 11 May 2010 on the social dimension of education and training*. (2010/C 135/02) Brussels: Council of the European Union. <u>http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-</u>

<u>content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX:52010XG0526(01)&qid=1454432864650</u>(Last accessed June 2015)

Dyson, A., 2001. 'Special needs in the twenty-first century: where we've been and where we're going' *British Journal of Special Education*, 28 (1) (March 2001), 24–29

European Agency for Development in Special Needs Education, 2013. *Draft Materials prepared for discussion at the Agency Organisation of Provision project seminars*. Odense, Denmark: European Agency for Development in Special Needs Education

European Agency for Development in Special Needs Education, 2013. *Organisation of Provision to Support Inclusive Education – Literature Review*. Odense, Denmark: European Agency for Development in Special Needs Education. <u>http://www.european-agency.org/sites/default/files/organisation-of-</u> <u>provision-to-support-inclusive-education-2013-literature-review_Organisation-of-</u> <u>Provision-Literature-Review.pdf</u> (Last accessed April 2015)

European Agency for Development in Special Needs Education/UNESCO, 2010. Inclusive Education in Action – Project Framework and Rationale. Odense, Denmark: European Agency for Development in Special Needs Education

European Agency for Special Needs and Inclusive Education, 2014. *Education for All: Special Needs and Inclusive Education in Malta. External Audit Report.* Odense, Denmark: European Agency for Special Needs and Inclusive Education. <u>http://education.gov.mt/en/Documents/Special Needs and Inclusive Education in</u> <u>Malta -- External Audit Report.pdf</u> (Last accessed October 2015)

European Commission, 2007. *INCLUD-ED Strategies for inclusion and social cohesion in Europe from education*. Thematic Project Priority 7. Citizens and Governance in a knowledge-based society. 6th Framework Programme. Brussels: European Commission

European Commission, 2009. Actions for Success in Schools in Europe. INCLUD-ED project. Brussels: European Commission

European Commission, 2013. *Support for Children with Special Educational Needs (SEN)*. Brussels: European Commission. <u>http://europa.eu/epic/studies-</u> <u>reports/docs/eaf_policy_brief_-_support_for_sen_children_final_version.pdf</u> (Last accessed June 2015)

European Commission/EACEA/Eurydice, 2012. *Key Data on Education in Europe 2012*. Eurydice Report.

http://eacea.ec.europa.eu/education/eurydice/documents/key_data_series/134e n.pdf (Last accessed April 2015)

Hegarty, S., 2001. 'Inclusive Education – a case to answer' *Journal of Moral Education*, 30 (3), 243–249

Hooge, E., Burns, T. and Wilkoszewski, H., 2012. 'Looking Beyond the Numbers: Stakeholders and Multiple School Accountability' *OECD Education Working*



Papers, No. 85. Paris: OECD Publishing. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/5k91dl7ct6q6-</u> <u>en</u> (Last accessed December 2015)

Horn, L. and Berktold, J., 1999. *Students with disabilities in postsecondary education: A profile of preparation, participation, and outcomes.* Washington, D.C.: National Center for Education Statistics

Huberman, M., Navo, M. and Parrish, T., 2012. 'Effective Practices in High Performing Districts Serving Students in Special Education' *Journal of Special Education Leadership*, 25 (2), September 2012, 59–71

Inclusive and Special Education Review Working Group, 2005. *Inclusive and Special Education Review*. Floriana, Malta: Ministry of Education, Youth and Employment.

http://education.gov.mt/en/resources/documents/policy%20documents/inclusiv e%20and%20special%20education%20review.pdf (Last accessed September 2015)

Lipsky, D.K. and Gartner, A., 1998. 'Taking inclusion into the future' *Educational Leadership*, 56 (2), October 1998, 78–81

Logadóttir, H., Ármannsdóttir, S. and Ólafsdóttir, S. B., 2012. *Skóli án aðgreiningar* og sérstakur stuðningur við nemendur í grunnskóla. Reykjavík: Skóla- og frístundasvið Reykjavíkurborgar.

http://eldri.reykjavik.is/Portaldata/1/Resources/skola_og_fristundasvid/skjol/Stef na-anadgreiningar._loka.pdf (Last accessed July 2015)

Martone, A. and Sireci, S.G., 2009. 'Evaluating Alignment Between Curriculum, Assessment, and Instruction' *Review of Educational Research*, December 2009, 79 (4), 1332–1361

OECD, 2001. What Works in Innovation in Education. New School Management Approaches. Paris: OECD. (Last accessed June 2015)

OECD, 2003. Education Policy Analysis. Chapter 1. Diversity, Inclusion and Equity: Insights from Special Needs Provision. Paris: OECD. http://www.oecd.org/edu/school/26527517.pdf (Last accessed May 2015)

OECD, 2004. *Learning from Tomorrow's World: First Results from PISA 2003*. Paris: OECD

OECD, 2007. *Education at a Glance 2007: OECD Indicators*. Paris: OECD. <u>http://www.oecd.org/education/skills-beyond-school/39313286.pdf</u> (Last accessed December 2015)

OECD, 2007. Students with Disabilities, Learning Difficulties and Disadvantages: Policies, Statistics and Indicators. Paris: OECD.

http://www.oecd.org/edu/school/40299703.pdf (Last accessed June 2015)

OECD, 2012. Education at a Glance 2012: OECD Indicators. Paris: OECD. http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/eag-2012-en (Last accessed April 2015)

Opertti, R. and Belalcázar, C., 2008. *Trends in inclusive education at regional and interregional levels: issues and challenges*. Geneva: UNESCO International Bureau of Education

Owings, A. W., Kaplan, L. S. and Volman, M., 2015. 'Education in the U.S. and the Netherlands: An Equity Comparison and a Few Big Questions' *Journal of Education Finance*, Volume 41, Number 2, Fall 2015, 145–163

Parrish, T.B., 2001. 'Who's paying the rising cost of special education?' *Journal of Special Education Leadership*, 14 (1), 4–12

Parrish, T.B., 2014. 'How should we fund special education?', in B. Bateman, J.W. Lloyd and M. Tankersley (eds.) *Understanding Special Education: Personal Perspectives on What, Who, Where, How, When, and Why*. New York: Routledge

Parrish, T., Harr-Robins, J. and Chambers, J., 2014. 'Special education', in H. F. Ladd and M. Goertz (eds.) *Handbook of Research in Education Finance and Policy*. New York: Routledge

Peternick, L., Smerdon, B. A., Fowler, W. Jr. and Monk, D. H., 1998. 'Using Cost and Need Adjustments to Improve the Measurement of School Finance Equity', in W. J. Fowler, Jr. (ed.) *Developments in School Finance, 1997*. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Department of Education. National Center for Education Statistics. <u>http://nces.ed.gov/pubs98/98212-8.pdf</u> (Last accessed May 2015)

Peters, S., 2007. "Education for All?" A Historical Analysis of International Inclusive Education Policy and Individuals with Disabilities' *Journal of Disability Policy Studies*, Fall 2007, 18 (2), 98–108

Pijl, S. J., 2007. 'Introduction: the social position of pupils with special needs in regular education' *European Journal of Special Needs Education*, 22 (1), 1–5

Pijl, S. J. and Vann De Bos, K., 2001. 'Redesigning regular education support in The Netherlands' *European Journal of Special Needs Education*, 16 (2), 111–119. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/08856250110040686 (Last accessed May 2015)

Scottish Government, 2014. *Implementation of The Education (Additional Support for Learning) (Scotland) Act 2004 (as amended): Report to Parliament 2013.* http://www.gov.scot/Publications/2014/04/3050 (Last accessed May 2015)



Scottish Government, 2015. *Report to the Parliament on the Implementation of the Education (Additional Support for Learning) (Scotland) Act 2004.* http://www.gov.scot/Publications/2015/04/5650 (Last accessed May 2015)

Shevlin, M., Winter, E. and Flynn, P., 2013. 'Developing Inclusive Practice: Teacher Perceptions of Opportunities and Constraints in the Republic of Ireland' *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, 17 (10), 1119–1133

Skrtic, T., 2005. 'A political economy of learning disabilities' *Learning Disability Quarterly*, Spring 2005, Vol. 28 Issue 2, 149–155

Slavić, A., 2011. 'Financiranje odgoja i obrazovanja učenika s teškoćama u nekim europskim državama i u Republici Hrvatskoj' [Financing special needs education in some European countries and in Croatia] *Školski vjesnik*, 60 (4), 511–526

Slee, R., 2001. 'Social justice and the changing directions in educational research: The case of inclusive education' *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, 5 (2/3), 167–177

Swedish Government, 2000. *Från patient till medborgare – en nationell handlingsplan för handikappolitiken.* Prop. 1999/2000:79 [A shift of perspective – from patient to citizen. A national action plan for disability policy. Government Bill 1999/2000:79].

http://www.regeringen.se/contentassets/adb03bff122c45f6bcf5a51f01060f52/fran-patient-till-medborgare---en-nationell-handlingsplan-for-handikappolitiken (Last accessed June 2015)

Swedish National Agency for Education, 2013. *Facts and figures 2012. Pre-school activities, schools and adult education in Sweden*. Stockholm: National Agency for Education. <u>http://www.skolverket.se/om-skolverket/andra-sprak-och-lattlast/in-english/publication/2.5845?_xurl_=http%3A%2F%2Fwww5.skolverket.se%2Fwtpub%2Fws%2Fskolbok%2Fwpubext%2Ftrycksak%2FBlob%2Fpdf3184.pdf%3Fk=3184 (Last accessed June 2015)</u>

Swedish National Agency for Education, 2013. *Municipal responsibility in practice.* A qualitative study. Stockholm: National Agency for Education.

http://www.skolverket.se/om-skolverket/andra-sprak-och-lattlast/inenglish/publication/2.5845?_xurl_=http%3A%2F%2Fwww5.skolverket.se%2Fwtpu b%2Fws%2Fskolbok%2Fwpubext%2Ftrycksak%2FBlob%2Fpdf3183.pdf%3Fk=3183 (Last accessed June 2015)

Swedish National Agency for Education, 2013. *Resource Allocation to Schools by Municipalities*. Stockholm: National Agency for Education. <u>http://www.skolverket.se/om-skolverket/andra-sprak-och-lattlast/in-</u> <u>english/publication/2.5845?_xurl_=http%3A%2F%2Fwww5.skolverket.se%2Fwtpu</u> <u>b%2Fws%2Fskolbok%2Fwpubext%2Ftrycksak%2FBlob%2Fpdf2961.pdf%3Fk=2961</u> (Last accessed June 2015)

UNESCO, 1996. Learning: The Treasure Within. Report to UNESCO of the International Commission on Education for the Twenty-first Century. Paris: UNESCO Publishing.

http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0010/001095/109590eo.pdf (Last accessed April 2015)

UNESCO, 2003. Overcoming Exclusion through Inclusive Approaches in Education. A Challenge & A Vision. Conceptual Paper. Paris: UNESCO.

http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0013/001347/134785e.pdf (Last accessed May 2015)

UNESCO, 2005. *Guidelines for Inclusion: Ensuring Access to Education for All.* Paris: UNESCO. <u>http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0014/001402/140224e.pdf</u> (Last accessed May 2015)

UNESCO, 2008. *Education for All. UNESCO Report on Global Action Week 2008.* UNESCO. <u>http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0016/001612/161222e.pdf</u> (Last accessed April 2015)

UNESCO, 2009. *Inclusive Education: The Way of the Future. Reference Document.* Paris: UNESCO.

http://www.ibe.unesco.org/fileadmin/user_upload/Policy_Dialogue/48th_ICE/CO NFINTED_48-3_English.pdf (Last accessed May 2015)

UNESCO, 2010. *Reaching the marginalized. EFA Global Monitoring Report 2010.* Paris: UNESCO. <u>http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0018/001866/186606E.pdf</u> (Last accessed May 2015)

UNESCO/International Bureau of Education, 2009. *Defining an Inclusive Education Agenda: Reflections around the 48th session of the International Conference on Education*. Geneva: UNESCO.

http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0018/001868/186807e.pdf (Last accessed May 2015)

UNESCO/OREALC, 2007. *Educación de calidad para todos: Un asunto de derechos humanos* [Quality Education for All: A human rights issue]. Documento de discusión sobre políticas educativas en el marco de la II Reunión Intergubernamental del Proyecto Regional de Educación para América Latina y el Caribe (EPT/PRELAC). Santiago, Chile: UNESCO.

http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0015/001502/150272s.pdf (Last accessed May 2015)



United Nations, 1989. *Convention on the Rights of the Child.* New York: United Nations General Assembly

United Nations, 2000. *United Nations Millennium Declaration*. <u>http://www.un.org/millennium/declaration/ares552e.htm</u> (Last accessed April 2015)

Watkins, A. (ed.), 2007. Assessment in Inclusive Settings: Key Issues for Policy and Practice. Odense, Denmark: European Agency for Development in Special Needs Education

World Bank, 1994. *Governance*. *The World Bank's Experience*. Washington, D.C.: World Bank. <u>http://www-</u>

wds.worldbank.org/servlet/WDSContentServer/WDSP/IB/1994/05/01/0000926 5_3970716142854/Rendered/PDF/multi0page.pdf (Last accessed June 2015)

Secretariat:

Østre Stationsvej 33 DK-5000 Odense C Denmark Tel: +45 64 41 00 20 secretariat@european-agency.org

Brussels Office:

Rue Montoyer 21 BE-1000 Brussels Belgium Tel: +32 2 213 62 80 brussels.office@european-agency.org

www.european-agency.org



www.european-agency.org/agency-projects/financing